LIME ENERGY CO. Form DEF 14A April 29, 2016 Table of Contents

# UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, DC 20549

#### **SCHEDULE 14A**

Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

(Amendment No. )

Filed by the Registrant X

Filed by a Party other than the Registrant O

Check the appropriate box:

- o Preliminary Proxy Statement
- o Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14c-5(d)(2))
- x Definitive Proxy Statement
- o Definitive Additional Materials
- o Soliciting Material Pursuant to § 240.14a-12

### LIME ENERGY CO.

(Name of Registrant as Specified in Its Charter)

(Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement, if other than the Registrant)

Payment of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):

X		No fee required.			
o		Fee computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(1) and 0-11.			
	(1)	Title of each class of securities to which transaction applies:			
	(2)	Aggregate number of securities to which transaction applies:			
	(3)	Per unit price or other underlying value of transaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (set forth the amount on which the filing fee is calculated and state how it was determined):			
	(4)	Proposed maximum aggregate value of transaction:			
	(5)	Total fee paid:			
o		Fee paid previously with preliminary materials.			
0		Check box if any part of the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the filing for which the offsetting fee was paid previously. Identify the previous filing by registration statement number, or the Form or Schedule and the date of its filing.			
	(1)	Amount Previously Paid:			
	(2)	Form, Schedule or Registration Statement No.:			
	(3)	Filing Party:			
	(4)	Date Filed:			

Table of Contents
4 Gateway Center, 4th Floor
100 Mulberry Street
Newark, NJ 07102
Newaik, NJ 0/102
April 29, 2016
Dear Fellow Stockholder:
On behalf of the Board of Directors, I cordially invite you to attend the 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held at 9:00 a.m., local time on Thursday, June 16, 2016. The meeting will be held at our Company headquarters at 4 Gateway Center, 4th Floor, 100 Mulberry Street,
Newark, NJ. You can contact us at (201) 416-2575 for directions.
A notice of the Annual Meeting and the proxy statement follow. We have also included our annual report for your information.
Your vote is very important. We urge you to vote as soon as possible using the Internet, telephone, or, if you received a proxy/voting instruction card, by marking, dating, and signing it, and returning it by mail. This will help insure that your shares are represented at the Annual Meeting,
whether or not you plan to attend the Annual Meeting. If you attend the meeting, you may revoke your proxy and cast your vote in person.
I look forward to seeing you at the Annual Meeting, and I thank you for being a valued stockholder.
Sincerely,

C. Adam Procell President and Chief Executive Officer

Lime Energy Co.
4 Gateway Center, 4th Floor
100 Mulberry Street
Newark, NJ 07102

# NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

	<b>TO BE HELD JUNE 16, 2016</b>
	g of Stockholders of Lime Energy Co. will be held at our Company headquarters at 4 Gateway Center, 4th Floor, 100, Newark, NJ at 9:00 a.m. local time, on Thursday, June 16, 2016, for the following purposes:
	To elect seven directors to our Board of Directors to hold office until the 2017 annual meeting of cluding (a) five directors to be elected by the holders of our Common Stock and the holders of our ed Stock, voting together as a single class, and (b) two directors to be elected by the holders of our ed Stock;
2.	To hold an advisory vote to approve executive compensation;
3. firm for 2016;	To ratify the appointment of CohnReznick LLP as our independent registered public accounting
4.	To approve the 2016 Employee Stock Purchase Plan: and

To transact such other business as may properly come before the Annual Meeting.

You can vote at the Annual Meeting in person or by proxy if you were a stockholder of record at the close of business on April 18, 2016.

You are cordially invited to attend the Annual Meeting in person. To ensure that your vote is counted at the meeting, however, please vote as promptly as possible. Submitting your proxy now will not prevent you from voting your shares at the meeting if you desire to do so, as your vote by proxy is revocable at your option in the manner described in the proxy statement.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

Mary Colleen Brennan

Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Secretary

Newark, New Jersey

April 29, 2016

IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING THE AVAILABILITY	
OF PROXY MATERIALS FOR THE ANNUAL MEETING	
OF STOCKHOLDERS TO BE HELD ON JUNE 16, 2016	_

This notice of meeting, the proxy statement, the proxy card and our annual report to stockholders for the year ended December 31, 2015 are available electronically at www.proxyvote.com.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
PROXY STATEMENT	1
PROXY STATEMENT SUMMARY	1
QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS	4
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE	9
Board of Directors	9
Nominee Information	9
Directorship Arrangements; Series C Preferred Directors	12
Independence of Directors	13
Family Relationships	13
Board Leadership Structure	13
Board Committees	14
Board Oversight of Risk Management	16
Director Nominations, Qualifications and Recommendations	16
Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation	17
Code of Conduct	17
Stockholder Communications with the Board	17
COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS	18
<u>Director Compensation Program</u>	18
<u>Director Compensation Table</u>	19
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS	21
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION	22
Overview of Executive Compensation Program	22
Objectives of Compensation Program	22
Long-Term Incentive Compensation	23
Other Benefits and Perquisites	24
Executive Employment Agreements	24
Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control	25
Other Matters	26
Compensation Risk Assessment	26
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION TABLES	27
Summary Compensation Table	27
Realized Pay for 2015	27
Outstanding Equity Awards at 2015 Fiscal Year-End	28
Option Re-Pricing	29

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

(continued)

	Page
EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION	30
PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS AND MANAGEMENT OWNERSHIP	31
SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE	32
CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS	33
Related Party Transaction Procedures	33
Investments and Transactions Involving Affiliates of Certain Stockholders	33
INFORMATION REGARDING THE 2016 EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN	38
Board Adoption	38
Material Features of the 2016 ESPP	38
Federal Income Tax Considerations	40
PROPOSAL NO. 1 ELECTION OF DIRECTORS	41
PROPOSAL NO. 2 ADVISORY VOTE TO APPROVE EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION	42
PROPOSAL NO. 3 RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC	
ACCOUNTING FIRM	43
AUDIT COMMITTEE DISCLOSURE	43
Change in Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	43
Audit and Non-Audit Fees	44
AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT	45
PROPOSAL NO. 4 APPROVAL OF THE 2016 EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN	46
OTHER GOVERNANCE MATTERS	47
Stockholder Proposals for the 2017 Annual Meeting	47
Delivery of Documents to Stockholders Sharing an Address	47
Stockholder List	47
Other Matters	47

#### LIME ENERGY CO.

# 4 Gateway Center, 4th Floor, 100 Mulberry Street

Newark, NJ 07102

#### PROXY STATEMENT

#### **FOR**

#### 2016 ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

### PROXY STATEMENT SUMMARY

To assist you in reviewing our proxy statement, we have summarized below several key disclosure items. The following description is only a summary and does not contain all of the information that is important for you to consider before voting on the proposals described in the proxy statement and listed on the proxy card. For detailed information, you should carefully review the proxy statement as well as our Annual Report to Stockholders for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015, which is being made available to our stockholders simultaneously with the proxy materials. These proxy materials are first being sent or given to our stockholders on or about April 29, 2016. We are inviting you to attend the Annual Meeting and are requesting your vote on the proposals described in this proxy statement.

# **Annual Meeting of Stockholders Information**

Date and Time	Place	
June 16, 2016	Lime Energy s Corporate Headquarters	
9:00 a.m., Eastern Time	4 Gateway Center, 4th Floor, 100 Mulberry Street, Newark, NJ 07102	
Record Date	Voting	
April 18, 2016	Your vote is very important and we urge you to vote as soon	
	as possible. See Question and Answer No. 10 on	
	Page 6 for voting instructions.	

#### **Proposals**

Board of Directors Vote				
Proposal	Recommendation	Page References		
1. Election of Directors by the holders of our Common Stock and the holders of our Series C Preferred Stock, voting together as a single class:  C. Adam Procell  Gregory T. Barnum  Christopher W. Capps  Richard P. Kiphart  Tommy Mike Pappas	FOR the Director Nominees	Page 9 (Nominee Information) Page 41 (Proposal No. 1)		
Advisory Vote to Approve Lime s Executive Compensation	FOR	Page 22 (Executive Compensation)		
Compensation		Page 27 (Summary Compensation Table)		
		Page 27 (Realized Pay for 2015)		
		Page 42 (Proposal No. 2)		
3. Ratification of CohnReznick LLP as the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm for 2016	FOR	Page 43 (Proposal No. 3)		
		Page 44 (Audit and Non-Audit Fees Table)		
4. Approval of the 2016 Employee Stock Purchase Plan	FOR	Page 46 (Proposal No. 4)		

Bison, the holder of the Company s Series C Preferred Stock, has informed the Board that it intends to nominate and elect Andreas Hildebrand and Peter S. Macdonald as Preferred Stock Directors. The holders of Common Stock do not vote on the election of the Preferred Stock Directors, all of whom are elected by the Series C Preferred Stock voting separately.

# Table of Contents

# **Board Composition**

The following table sets forth the current composition of our Board of Directors (the Board ), current committee assignments, and the number of meetings held in 2015.

Director
Andreas Hildebrand*
C. Adam Procell
Richard P. Kiphart*
Gregory T. Barnum*
Christopher W. Capps *
Peter S. Macdonald*
Tommy Mike Pappas *
2015 Meetings

Primary Occupation	Board of Directors	Audit Committee	Compensation Committee	Governance and Nominating Committee
Partner, Bison Capital	Chair		þ	þ
CEO, Lime Energy Co.	þ			
Head of Corporate Finance and Principal, William Blair VP of Finance and CFO, Datalink	þ		Chair	
Corporation	þ	Chair	þ	
CEO, KGC Capital	þ	þ		þ
Partner, Bison Capital	þ	-		Chair
Managing Director, The Hurvis Group	þ	þ		
	7	6	2	1

# **Corporate Governance**

The Company is committed to sound corporate governance, and we have adopted a number of practices that the Board believes are in the best interest of the Company and our stockholders. Below is a non-exhaustive list of some of these practices.

An independent director serves as Chairman of the Board	Maintain separate roles for the Chairman and the CEO
Majority of independent directors, entirely independent Audit, Compensation, and Governance and Nominating Committees	Majority voting standard for election of directors
Code of Conduct that requires all employees and directors to adhere to high ethical standards	No stockholder rights plan ( poison pill )

# **Executive Compensation**

Philosophy:

<sup>\*</sup>Independent Director

We operate in a competitive and changing industry. Our compensation program is based on these core principles:

Performance-Based Compensation:

Executive incentive award payments are determined by our Compensation Committee based on an evaluation of each executive s individual performance and contribution to our operating results as well as our long-term strategic objectives.

Decisions are subjective and not based on mandated, pre-established formulas. We believe this approach provides necessary flexibility in making compensation decisions that are in line with the objectives of our executive compensation program.

Key Compensation Decisions for 2015:

Our Compensation Committee made the following key compensation decisions:

Long-Term Incentive Awards We made long-term incentive compensation grants of stock options to our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, and a number of other key officers of the Company during 2015. These awards vest over a three-year period from the grant date, with one-third vesting each year. These awards significantly increased the weighting

2

#### Table of Contents

of long-term compensation as a component of total pay, further aligning the interests of our executives and stockholders.

Incentive Bonuses Mr. Procell received a bonus of \$85,011 and Ms. Brennan received a bonus of \$48,997.

Base Salaries Base salaries increased by 39.6% for Mr. Procell for calendar year 2015, reflecting an adjustment based on salaries paid to the CEO and President for companies of similar size in our industry. Ms. Brennan s base salary increased 4.5% for calendar year 2015, largely reflecting an adjustment based on cost of living increases.

Impact of Long-term Incentive Awards on 2015 Compensation:

In 2015, we made stock option awards that had a significant impact on the reported pay of our named executive officers. We granted stock options to C. Adam Procell, our President and Chief Executive Officer, which increased the amount of his performance-based/at-risk compensation to 45.5% of his reported pay. Similarly, stock option awards to Mary Colleen Brennan, our Chief Financial Officer, increased the amount of her performance-based/at-risk compensation to 35.3% of her reported pay. Mr. Procell and Ms. Brennan will not realize the full value of their stock option awards, if any, until September 25, 2018. Our other executives also received stock option awards during 2015.

Pay realized by Mr. Procell in 2015 was 54.5% of his pay reported for the year. Pay realized by Ms. Brennan in 2015 was 64.7% of her pay reported for the year.

#### LIME ENERGY CO.

#### 4 Gateway Center, 4th Floor, 100 Mulberry Street

Newark, NJ 07102

#### PROXY STATEMENT

FOR

#### 2016 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

#### **QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS**

### 1. Why am I receiving these proxy materials?

We have made these proxy materials available to you on the Internet and, in some cases, have mailed to you printed copies of these proxy materials in connection with the solicitation of proxies by Lime Energy Co. (the Company ) in connection with the 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders of the Company (the Annual Meeting ) to be held on Thursday, June 16, 2016 at 9:00 a.m. Eastern Time at our Company headquarters, 4 Gateway Center, 4th Floor, 100 Mulberry Street, Newark, New Jersey, and at any postponement or adjournment thereof. These proxy materials are first being sent or given to our stockholders on April 29, 2016. We are inviting you to attend the Annual Meeting and are requesting your vote on the proposals described in this proxy statement.

2. Why did I receive a one-page notice in the mail regarding the Internet availability of proxy materials instead of a full set of proxy materials?

Pursuant to rules adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the SEC), we have elected to provide access to our proxy materials via the Internet. Accordingly, a Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials (the Notice) was required to be sent to our stockholders to announce that the proxy materials are available and can be accessed on the Internet. All stockholders can access the proxy materials on the website referred to in the Notice and may request to receive a printed set of the proxy materials. Instructions on how to access the proxy materials over the Internet or to request a printed copy are included in the Notice.

We believe that making our proxy materials available via the Internet will expedite stockholders—receipt of materials, while lowering costs and reducing the environmental impact of our Annual Meeting because we will print and mail fewer full sets of materials.

3.	What is included in these proxy materials?
In addition, our Ann	rials include this proxy statement and, for stockholders receiving printed copies of the proxy materials by mail, the proxy card. nual Report to Stockholders for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015 is being made available to you simultaneously with but only for informational purposes and not as a means of soliciting your proxy.
4.	What proposals are being voted on at the Annual Meeting?
Stockholders will v	ote on the following matters at the Annual Meeting:
1.	Election of directors nominated by our Board to hold office until 2017;
2.	Advisory vote to approve executive compensation;
3. public accounting	Ratification of the appointment of CohnReznick LLP ( CohnReznick ) as our independent registered ag firm for 2016;
4.	Approval of the 2016 Employee Stock Purchase Plan; and
	4

Table of Contents
Such other business as may properly come before the meeting and any postponement or adjournment thereof.
There are no dissenters rights or rights of appraisal as to any item to be acted upon at the Annual Meeting.
5. What are the Board s voting recommendations?
The Board recommends that you vote your shares:
1. <b>FOR</b> the nominees to serve on our Board (Proposal No. 1).
2. <b>FOR</b> advisory approval of the compensation of our named executive officers, as described in this proxy statement (Proposal No. 2).
3. <b>FOR</b> the ratification of the appointment of CohnReznick as our independent registered public accounting firm for 2016 (Proposal No. 3).
4. <b>FOR</b> adoption of the 2016 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (Proposal No. 4).
6. How do I get electronic access to the proxy materials?
Our proxy materials are available at www.proxyvote.com. The Notice includes instructions regarding how to:
Access on the Internet our proxy materials for the Annual Meeting; and

Instruct us to send future proxy materials to you by e-mail.

# 7. Who may vote at the Annual Meeting?

Only holders of record of our common stock, \$0.0001 par value (the Common Stock) and the holders of our Series C Convertible Preferred Stock (Series C Preferred Stock) as of the close of business on April 18, 2016 (the record date) are entitled to notice of and to vote at the Annual Meeting or any postponement or adjournment thereof. As of the record date, there were 9,630,668 shares of Common Stock issued and outstanding and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting and 10,000 shares of Series C Preferred Stock outstanding and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting. Each share of Common Stock entitles the holder thereof to one vote and each share of Series C Preferred Stock entitles the holder thereof to cast approximately 416.66 votes on any matter presented to our stockholders. Except as provided by law, the provisions of our Certificate of Incorporation, or the Certificate of Designation for our Series C Preferred Stock, the holders of our Common Stock and the holders of our Series C Preferred Stock vote together as a single class on any matter presented to our stockholders, with the holders of our Series C Preferred Stock being entitled to cast 4,166,666 votes.

# 8. What is the difference between a stockholder of record and a beneficial owner of shares held in street name?

Stockholder of Record. If your shares are represented by certificates or book entries in your name so that you appear as a stockholder on the records of Wells Fargo, our stock transfer agent, you are considered the stockholder of record with respect to those shares, and the Notice or, in some cases, the proxy materials, were sent directly to you. If you request printed copies of the proxy materials, you will also receive a proxy card.

Beneficial Owner of Shares Held in Street Name. If your shares are held in an account at a brokerage firm, bank, broker-dealer or other similar institution, then you are the beneficial owner of shares held in street name and the Notice was forwarded to you by that institution. The institution holding your account is considered the stockholder of record for purposes of voting at the Annual Meeting. As a beneficial owner, you have the right to instruct that institution on how to vote the shares held in your account.

9. What do I do if I received more than one Notice or proxy card?				
If you receive more than one Notice or referenced to be sure all of your shares	proxy card because you have multiple accounts, you should provide voting instructions are voted.	s for all accounts		
10. How do I vote				
	the Annual Meeting in person. Whether or not you expect to attend the Annual Meetin liest convenience by one of the methods described below, so that your shares will be received four ways:			
Stockholders of record can vote any of	701 Tour ways.			
VIA THE INTERNET	You may vote by proxy via the Internet by following the provided in the Notice.	ne instructions		
BY MAIL	If you received printed copies of the proxy materials, y proxy by filling out the proxy card and sending it back provided.			
BY TELEPHONE	You may vote by proxy by calling the telephone number Internet voting site or on the proxy card (if you receive of the proxy materials).	er found on the		
IN DEDCOM				
IN PERSON	You, or a personal representative with an appropriate p ballot at the Annual Meeting. We will give you a ballot	proxy, may vote by t when you arrive.		

If you need directions to the Annual Meeting, please call our offices at (201) 416-2575.

If you own shares in street name, you will receive from the record holder instructions that you must follow in order for your shares to be voted. Stockholders owning shares through most banks and brokers will also be able to vote on the Internet or by telephone. If you own shares in street name and you wish to attend the Annual Meeting to vote in person, you must obtain a legal proxy from the institution that holds your shares and attend the Annual Meeting in person or send a personal representative with the legal proxy to vote by ballot. You should contact your bank or brokerage account representative to learn how to obtain a legal proxy.

### 11. What is the voting deadline if voting by Internet or telephone?

If you vote by Internet or by telephone, you must transmit your vote no later than 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on June 15, 2016.

#### 12. How can I attend the Annual Meeting?

You may attend the Annual Meeting if you were a stockholder of record as of the close of business on April 18, 2016 or you hold a valid proxy for the Annual Meeting. You should be prepared to present a photo I.D. for admittance. If you are a stockholder of record, your name will be verified against the list of stockholders of record on the record date prior to your being admitted to the Annual Meeting. If you are not a stockholder of record but hold shares through a broker, trustee or nominee, you should provide proof of beneficial ownership on the record date, such as a recent account statement showing your ownership, a copy of the voting instruction card provided by your broker, trustee or nominee, or other similar evidence of ownership.

6

Tabl	e of	Contents
1 au	U OI	Contents

13.	What is the quorum	ı requireme	ent for the An	nual Meeting?		
issued, outstan determining th does not provid certain proposa returned will b	quorum for transaction of busing and entitled to vote at the ne presence of a quorum at the A de voting instructions and, as a als. Shares that are properly vote tabulated by the election inspitions are provided on all matters	Annual Meetin Annual Meetin result, the inst ted on the Inte- pector appointed	ing as of the recording. A broker non-vititution that holds ernet or by telepho	I date. Abstentions of occurs when a the shares does not not and shares for w	and broker non-votes w beneficial owner of shar t have the discretion to v which proxy cards are pro-	ill be included in es held in street name ote those shares on perly executed and
14.	How are proxies vot	ted?				
Annual Meetin that are set for	e properly voted on the Internet ng in accordance with the direct th under the heading What are e voted, to the extent permitted	tions given or, e the Board s	where no direction voting recommend	ns are given, in acc dations? above. It	cordance with the recomf any other business is br	mendations of the Boar ought before the meetir
meaning you a your shares wi If you do not p the appointment	n which your shares may be vote authorize individuals named on ill not be voted. If you own shar provide voting instructions, the nt of CohnReznick as the Comp the Annual Meeting.	the proxy card res in street na institution may	d to vote your shar ame, you may instr y nevertheless vot	es. If you do not veruet the institution le your shares on your	ote by proxy or in persor holding your shares on h our behalf only with resp	at the Annual Meeting ow to vote your shares. ect to the ratification of
on the proxy ca	ected Mr. Procell and Ms. Roberard accompanying this proxy st dance with the directions indications of the Board contained in the	tatement, to seated thereon, o	erve as proxies. The or if no direction is	e shares represente	ed by each executed and	returned proxy will be
15.	What are the voting	; requireme	ents to approv	e each of the p	roposals?	
	Proposal		Voting Req	uirements	Effect of Abstentions	Effect of Broker Non-Votes

Edgar Filing: LIME ENERGY CO. - Form DEF 14A

1. Election of Directors (other than Preferred Stock Directors)	Affirmative Vote of Majority of Votes Present	Equivalent to a vote against	No effect on outcome
2. Advisory vote to approve executive compensation	Affirmative Vote of Majority of Votes Present (on an advisory basis)	Equivalent to a vote against	No effect on outcome
3. Ratification of the appointment of CohnReznick as our independent registered public accounting firm for 2016	Affirmative Vote of Majority of Votes Present	Equivalent to a vote against	No effect on outcome
4. Adoption of 2016 Employee Stock Purchase Plan	Affirmative Vote of Majority of Votes Present	Equivalent to a vote against	No effect on outcome

The election of Preferred Stock Directors requires the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the Series C Preferred Stock.

#### **Table of Contents**

### 16. Can I change my vote after I have voted?

You may revoke your proxy and change your vote at any time before the final vote at the Annual Meeting. You may vote again on a later date via the Internet or by telephone (in which case only your latest Internet or telephone proxy submitted prior to 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on June 15, 2016 will be counted) or by filling out and returning a new proxy card bearing a later date. Additionally, you may change or revoke a previously executed proxy by voting in person at the Annual Meeting. However, your attendance at the Annual Meeting will not, by itself, revoke your proxy unless you vote again at the Annual Meeting or specifically request that your prior proxy be revoked by delivering to our Corporate Secretary a written notice of revocation prior to the Annual Meeting.

# 17. Who is paying for the cost of this proxy solicitation?

The cost of this proxy solicitation will be borne by the Company. We may request banks, brokers, fiduciaries, custodians, nominees and certain other record holders to send proxies, proxy statements and other materials to their principals at our expense. We will reimburse those banks, brokers, fiduciaries, custodians, nominees and other record holders for their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses of solicitation. We do not anticipate that costs and expenses incurred in connection with this proxy solicitation will exceed an amount normally expended for a proxy solicitation for an election of directors in the absence of a contest. In addition to soliciting proxies by mail, we and our directors, officers and regular employees may also solicit proxies personally, by telephone or by other appropriate means. No additional compensation will be paid to directors, officers or other regular employees for such services.

	•		$\sim$		
Tab	ıle.	ot.	( `o`	nter	1ts

#### CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

#### **Board of Directors**

Our Board is comprised of seven directors. Under our by-laws, the Board may set the size of the Board at a number of directors ranging from three to twelve. The term of office for each director expires at the Annual Meeting. At each annual meeting of stockholders, directors are elected to hold office for a one-year term expiring at the annual meeting to be held in the following year or until their respective successors are duly elected and qualified.

#### Attendance at Meetings

During 2015, the Board met a total of eight times. In addition, the Audit Committee met six times, the Governance and Nominating Committee met once, and the Compensation Committee met twice. In 2015, during the time they were serving, all members of the Board attended at least 75% of the total of all board meetings and applicable committee meetings. We encourage our Board members to attend annual meetings of our stockholders, but we do not have a formal policy requiring attendance. Two of our directors attended the 2015 annual meeting of our stockholders.

The Board believes that all of its members have demonstrated professional integrity, ability and judgment, as well as leadership and strategic management abilities, and have each performed exceptionally well in their respective time served as directors. Several of our current directors have served as Board members for a number of years and, during this time, we have experienced growth and success.

All nominees listed below are currently members of our Board and have consented to being named in this proxy statement and to serve as directors, if elected. If, at the time of the Annual Meeting, any nominee becomes unavailable or declines to serve as a director for any reason, the persons named in the proxy will vote for a substitute nominee as the Board recommends, or vote to allow the resulting vacancy to remain open until filled by the Board, as permitted under our by-laws. The Board has no reason to believe that any nominee will be unable or decline to serve if elected to office. Under our by-laws, the Board may appoint directors to fill any vacancies until the next annual meeting of stockholders.

#### **Nominee Information**

A discussion of each nominee s biographical information follows: It includes the particular attributes that, in the opinion of the Board, support each individual director s selection to serve on the Board.

#### ANDREAS HILDEBRAND

Chairman of the Board

Director Since: 2014 Age: 48

Board Committees: Compensation Committee, Governance and Nominating Committee

Biographical Information: Mr. Hildebrand has been the Company s Chairman of the Board since June 2015. Mr. Hildebrand has been a partner at Bison Capital since 2013. Prior to joining Bison, Mr. Hildebrand was Co-Head of the Private Capital Investing Group at Goldman, Sachs & Co., a platform dedicated to making private equity and debt investments in growth and middle market companies based in North America. Prior to joining Goldman in 2008, Mr. Hildebrand was a Senior Managing Director in the Private Equity Group of GE Asset Management (GEAM), the investment management arm of General Electric Company. Mr. Hildebrand joined GEAM in 1994. Mr. Hildebrand was previously a board member of a number of Goldman and GEAM portfolio companies, including Baxa Corp, Renal Ventures Management, Amber Road, Cervalis, Dynamica, Rasa Land Investors, Atkins, Octane Fitness, Miller Heiman, Utex Industries, Focus Vision, Distribution International, Eagle Family Foods and HB&G. Mr. Hildebrand received an A.B. from Princeton University and a MPhil from Cambridge University.

Skills and Qualifications: Mr. Hildebrand brings to the Board significant expertise in finance and investment management.

9

#### C. ADAM PROCELL

**President and Chief Executive Officer** 

Director Since: 2014 Age: 48

**Board Committees: None** 

Biographical Information: Mr. Procell has been the Company s Chief Executive Officer since November 2013 and President and Chief Operating Officer since September 2013. From April 2009 to September 2013, he served as Divisional President and as Vice President of Sales and Marketing of a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Prior to joining the Company in April 2009, Mr. Procell served as the National Director of Energy Efficiency & Carbon Management for AECOM Technology Corporation (ACM: NYSE).

**Skills and Qualifications:** Mr. Procell s industry experience and responsibility for executing the Company s strategic plan qualify him to serve on the Board.

#### GREGORY T. BARNUM

Director Since: 2006 Age: 61

Board Committees: Audit Committee (Chair), Compensation Committee

Biographical Information: Mr. Barnum has been a member of the Company s Board since 2006. He is currently the Vice President of Finance, Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Secretary of Datalink Corporation, a provider of data center infrastructure services. Prior to joining Datalink in March 2006, Mr. Barnum was the Vice President of Finance, Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Secretary of Computer Network Technology Corporation since July 1997. From September 1992 to July 1997, Mr. Barnum served as Senior Vice President of Finance and Administration, Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Secretary at Tricord Systems, Inc., a manufacturer of enterprise servers. From May 1988 to September 1992, Mr. Barnum served as the Executive Vice President of Finance, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Corporate Secretary for Cray Computer Corporation, a development-stage company that engaged in the design of supercomputers. Prior to that time, Mr. Barnum served in various accounting and financial management capacities for Cray Research, Inc., a manufacturer of supercomputers. Mr. Barnum is a Certified Public Accountant and a member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

**Skills and Qualifications:** Mr. Barnum s 20+ years of accounting experience and service as a chief financial officer of publicly traded companies qualify him to serve on our Board.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### CHRISTOPHER W. CAPPS

Director Since: 2009 Age: 33

Board Committees: Audit Committee, Governance and Nominating Committee

**Biographical Information:** Mr. Capps has been a director of the Company since 2009. He served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Advanced Biotherapy, Inc. from August 2006 until the Company acquired it on March 3, 2010. Since September 2005, Mr. Capps has also served as President and CEO of KGC Capital, a private equity firm.

**Skills and Qualifications:** Mr. Capps experience working with small and mid-sized companies and his knowledge of current corporate finance techniques and market activities qualify him to serve on the Board.

### RICHARD P. KIPHART

Director Since: 2006 Age: 74

Board Committees: Compensation Committee (Chair), Governance and Nominating Committee

Biographical Information: Richard P. Kiphart has been a member of our Board since January 2006. He served as Chairman of the Board between June 2012 and June 2015 and from 2006 to 2011. Mr. Kiphart is currently the head of the Private Client Advisors group and has been a principal of William Blair & Company for over 49 years. In addition, Mr. Kiphart is currently Chairman of Ranir Corporation and previously served as Chairman of Nature Vision, The Merit Music School, and the Erikson Institute. In addition, he currently serves as the President and Chief Executive Officer of the Lyric Opera of Chicago and is on the board of Lurie Children s Hospital, the Poetry Foundation, the Afrimax Group, Emmi Solutions, Trustwave Corporation, and Wilshire Media Group.

**Skills and Qualifications:** Mr. Kiphart s leadership skills and extensive investment banking experience, as well as his experience serving on numerous boards, makes him qualified to serve on the Board.

#### Table of Contents

#### TOMMY MIKE PAPPAS

Director Since: 2001 Age: 37

Board Committees: Audit Committee, Governance and Nominating Committee

Biographical Information: Mr. Pappas has served as a member of the Board since October 2014. He is currently Managing Director of The Hurvis Group, a privately-held investment group, and has served in that role since 2009. He formerly worked for a national accounting firm assisting corporations and individuals with an array of strategic and taxation issues. Mr. Pappas is a member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

**Skills and Qualifications:** Mr. Pappas accounting skills and management experience makes him qualified to serve on our Board.

#### PETER S. MACDONALD

Director Since: 2014 Age: 57

Board Committees: Audit Committee, Governance and Nominating Committee (Chair)

**Biographical Information:** Mr. Macdonald became a director of the Company in 2014. Since 2009, Mr. Macdonald has served as a Partner with Bison Capital Asset Management, LLC. Mr. Macdonald previously served as a director of Center for Wound Healing, Inc., a developer and manager of wound care centers throughout the United States.

**Skills and Qualifications:** Mr. Macdonald s investment skills and his experience serving on numerous boards make him qualified to serve on the Board.

#### Directorship Arrangements; Series C Preferred Directors

We have previously entered into the following arrangements relating to directorships:

• Arrangements with Bison Capital Partners IV, L.P. On December 23, 2014, we entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement with Bison Capital Partners IV, L.P. (Bison), pursuant to which Bison purchased 10,000 shares of the Company s Series C Convertible Preferred Stock, which may be converted, at any time, at the option of the holder thereof, into shares of our Common Stock. Under the Series C Certificate of Designation, Bison has director appointment rights that apply so long as Bison owns at least 16.36% of the currently issued and outstanding shares of Series C Preferred Stock. Should the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock no longer be entitled to elect at least one

director under the Series C Certificate of Designation, they would still have the right to nominate candidates for election to the Board in a number consistent with their voting power. This designation right terminates if Bison ceases to beneficially own at least 5% of the total number of voting shares or upon certain change-of-control events. In connection with the stock issuance, the Company, Richard Kiphart, The John Thomas Hurvis Revocable Trust, and Bison entered into a Shareholder and Investor Rights Agreement (the Bison Shareholder Agreement ) under which the other stockholders party to the agreement agreed to vote in favor of director candidates nominated by Bison. Bison also has the right to nominate one director to the Company s Compensation Committee and any new board committee that is established other than the Audit Committee or the Governance and Nominating Committee. In connection with the stock issuance, Andreas Hildebrand and Peter Macdonald were named directors of the Company. Bison may not, subject to certain exceptions in the Bison Shareholder Agreement, acquire additional shares of our Common Stock or seek to influence the management of the Company without the Company s consent. Such restrictions would cease to have effect upon the occurrence of certain change-of-control events. For additional information on arrangements with Bison, see the discussion under Certain Relationships and Related Transactions on page 33.

In accordance with the arrangements discussed above, the Governance and Nominating Committee has nominated, and the Board has accepted the nomination of, Andreas Hildebrand and Peter Macdonald for election as Preferred Stock Directors (as defined in our Certificate of Designation for the Series C Preferred Stock, which was filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on December 23, 2014). The biographical information of Messrs. Hildebrand and Macdonald are set forth above under Nominee Information.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **Independence of Directors**

Our Board currently consists of seven directors, of which six are non-management directors. The Board has determined that each of Messrs. Andreas Hildebrand, Gregory Barnum, Christopher Capps, Richard Kiphart, Peter Macdonald, and Tommy Pappas are independent as defined by Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 5605(a)(2). Mr. Procell is not considered independent because he also serves as one of our executive officers.

The Board made these determinations based primarily on a review of the responses of the directors to questions regarding employment and compensation history, family relationships and affiliations, and based on discussions with the directors. For details about certain relationships and transactions among us and our executive officers and directors, see Certain Relationships and Related Transactions beginning on page 33.

#### **Family Relationships**

The only family relationship between any of our directors and officers is that Mr. Kiphart is the father-in-law of Mr. Capps.

#### **Board Leadership Structure**

The positions of Board Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are separate and held by different persons. The Board Chairman assists with the execution of strategy and business plans, plays a prominent role in setting the Board's agenda, acts as the liaison between the Board and our senior management, and presides at Board and stockholder meetings. The Board believes that separating the roles of Board Chairman and Chief Executive Officer is the most effective leadership structure for us at this time, allowing our Chief Executive Officer to focus on the business strategy and operations of the Company, while our Board Chairman provides leadership to the Board, which is necessary for the Board to fulfill its responsibilities, and an independent perspective on the Board's activities. In the future, the Board may determine that combining the roles of Board Chairman and Chief Executive Officer may be the best structure for operating the Company. Should the Board Chairman cease to be an independent director, the Board may also elect to designate an independent director to act as lead director to facilitate the functioning of the Board.

Andreas Hildebrand, an independent director, has served as Chairman of our Board since June 2015.

In the Board s opinion, the current leadership structure is appropriate to satisfy the need for objectivity and effective oversight. In addition to the separation of the roles of Board Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, other attributes of our corporate governance structure are as follows:

b the Chairman is an independent director;

þ	the Board is comprised of a majority of independent directors;
	before or after regularly scheduled Board meetings, the independent directors meet in executive session to a mong other things, the performance of our executive officers; and
	the Audit, Compensation and Governance and Nominating committees of the Board are comprised only of ndent directors who perform key oversight functions, such as:
•	overseeing the integrity and quality of our financial statements;
•	overseeing risk assessment and management;
•	establishing senior executive compensation;
•	reviewing director candidates and making recommendations for director nominations; and
•	overseeing our corporate governance structure and practices.
	ard recognizes, however, that no single leadership model is right for all companies at all times and that, depending on future tances, other leadership models might be appropriate for us.
	13

# Table of Contents

#### **Board Committees**

Our Board has an Audit Committee, a Compensation Committee, and a Governance and Nominating Committee. Each of our committees operates under a written charter that has been adopted by the committee and approved by our Board. The charters are reviewed annually by each respective committee and any adopted changes are submitted to our Board for ratification. Current copies of the charters for all of our committees are available on our website at <a href="http://www.lime-energy.com/investors">http://www.lime-energy.com/investors</a> under Corporate Governance. In addition, any stockholder may receive copies of these documents in print, without charge, by contacting Investor Relations at (201) 416-2575 or <a href="maintenance-investorse-invest

The primary responsibilities of each of our committees, as well as the current composition of our committees and the number of committee meetings held during 2015, are described below.

Audit Committee	
The primary responsibilities of our Audit Committee include:	Committee Members:
<ul> <li>overseeing our accounting and financial reporting processes, including our internal controls over financial reporting;</li> </ul>	Gregory T. Barnum (Chair)  Christopher W. Capps  Tommy Mike Pappas
overseeing the quality and integrity of our financial statements;	
reviewing the performance of our internal audit function;	
<ul> <li>selecting and retaining our independent auditors;</li> </ul>	
reviewing the performance and independence of our independent auditor;	
reviewing related party transactions;	
overseeing our compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;	

<ul> <li>setting the compensation of the independent auditors and reviewing the scope and results of their audit; and</li> </ul>	
overseeing the process by which we undertake risk assessment and risk management, including discussing our financial risk exposures and the steps management has taken and is taking to monitor and control such exposures.	
Each member of the Audit Committee is a non-management director and is independent as defined in Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 5605(a)(2) and under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act ). Our Board has determined that Mr. Barnum qualifies as an audit committee financial expension of the definition set forth in Item 407(d)(5)(ii) of Regulation S-K, as adopted by the SEC.	Number of Meetings in 2015:
pursuant to the definition set forth in fem 407(d)(3)(n) of Regulation 3-K, as adopted by the 3DC.	6

Compensation Committee	
The primary responsibilities of our Compensation Committee include:	
<ul> <li>reviewing and determining the compensation of our Chief Executive Officer and other executive officers;</li> </ul>	
establishing our general compensation philosophy;	
<ul> <li>overseeing the development and implementation of our corporate goals and objectives relevant to the compensation of our executives;</li> </ul>	Committee Members:  Richard P. Kiphart (Chair)  Gregory T. Barnum
<ul> <li>overseeing the administration of equity-based plans and any other compensation plans;</li> </ul>	Andreas Hildebrand
overseeing the risks associated with the design and operation of our compensation programs, policies and practices; and	
periodically reviewing the compensation of our directors and making recommendations to the Board with respect thereto.	
Each member of the Compensation Committee is a non-management director, is independent as defined in	Number of Meetings in
Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 5605(a)(2), and meets the enhanced independence standards applicable to compensation committee members in Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 5605(d)(2) and the Exchange Act.	Number of Meetings in
Additional information on the Compensation Committee and the role of management in setting compensation is provided below under Executive Compensation beginning on page 22.	2015:
	2

Governance and Nominating Committee	
The primary responsibilities of our Governance and Nominating Committee include:	Committee Members:
	Peter Macdonald (Chair)
	Christopher W. Capps

establishing director qualification criteria and seeking to identify individuals qualified to become directors and reviewing any candidates proposed by directors, management or stockholders;	Andreas Hildebrand
recommending committee appointments to the Board;	
recommending director nominees to the Board and the stockholders;	
reviewing significant stockholder relations issues;	
overseeing annual self-evaluation of the Board; and	
advising the Board with respect to corporate governance matters.	
Each member of the Governance and Nominating Committee is a non-management director and is independent as defined in Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 5605(a)(2).	Number of Meetings in
maspenson as assured in Tuesday Manketplace Rate 5005(a)(2).	2015:
	1

### **Board Oversight of Risk Management**

The Board plays a crucial role in the management of the risks we face as a company. The Board is responsible for oversight of the Company s risk management practices while management is responsible for the day-to-day risk management processes. In the Board s opinion, this division of responsibilities is the most effective approach for addressing the risks facing the Company, and the Company s board leadership structure supports this approach.

Our committees support the Board s oversight of risk management in the following ways:

Committee	Risk Management Responsibilities
Audit Committee	Reviews our risk management practices and procedures
	Oversees management s execution of our risk management objectives
	• Discusses our financial risk exposures and the steps management has taken and is taking to monitor and control such exposures
	• Receives direct reports from the Company s internal audit functions regarding the Company s risk and control environment
Compensation Committee	<ul> <li>Oversees risks relating to our compensation programs and plans (as more fully described in Executive Compensation Compensation Risk Assessment on page 26)</li> </ul>
	• Conducts risk assessment of our compensation programs to ensure they are properly aligned with Company performance and do not provide incentives for our employees to take inappropriate or excessive risks
Governance and Nominating Committee	<ul> <li>Oversees risks relating to corporate governance matters, including with respect to reviewing Board and Committee composition and the Company s relations with our stockholders</li> </ul>

#### Supports succession planning for the Company s management

#### **Director Nominations, Qualifications and Recommendations**

When identifying and evaluating director nominees, our Governance and Nominating Committee considers the nominees personal and professional integrity, judgment, ability to represent the interests of the stockholders, and knowledge regarding the Company s business. The Committee seeks candidates whose qualifications, experience and independence complement those of existing Board members. Board candidates are expected to possess high personal and professional ethics, integrity and values, and relevant business experience and to be committed to representing the long-term interests of all stockholders. They are also expected to have an inquisitive and objective perspective, practical wisdom and good judgment.

The Governance and Nominating Committee has primarily identified candidates through informal solicitation of ideas from members of the Board or the Company s executive officers, although in certain private placement or acquisition-related transactions, parties have obtained the right to designate board representatives.

For incumbent directors, the Committee reviews each director s overall service to the Company during the director s term, including the director s level of participation and quality of performance. The Governance and Nominating Committee considered and nominated the candidates proposed for election as director at the Annual Meeting, and the Board voted unanimously to approve the Governance and Nominating Committee s recommendation.

### Director Qualifications; Diversity

We seek to identify candidates who represent a mix of backgrounds and experiences that will improve the Board s ability, as a whole, to serve the needs of our Company and the interests of our stockholders.

The Board does not have a formal policy with respect to Board nominee diversity. In recommending proposed nominees to the full Board, the Governance and Nominating Committee is charged with building and maintaining a board that has an ideal mix of talent and experience to achieve our business objectives in the current environment. In particular, the Governance and Nominating Committee is focused on relevant subject matter expertise, depth of knowledge in key areas that are important to us, and diversity of thought, background, perspective and experience so as to facilitate robust debate and broad thinking on the strategies and tactics we pursue.

### **Table of Contents**

#### Stockholder Recommendations

Stockholders may nominate candidates to serve as directors by submitting a written notice to the Governance and Nominating Committee at Lime Energy Co., 4 Gateway Center, 4th Floor, 100 Mulberry Street, Newark, NJ 07102. Stockholder recommendations must be accompanied by sufficient information to assess the candidate s qualifications along with the candidate s consent to serve as director if elected. Stockholder nominees will be evaluated by the Governance and Nominating Committee in the same manner as other nominees.

Stockholder nominations of directors for election at the 2017 annual general meeting of stockholders must be received no earlier than February 16, 2017 and no later than March 18, 2017. If the date of the 2017 annual general meeting of stockholders is moved to a date that is more than 30 days before or more than 60 days after the anniversary date of this year s annual general meeting, the stockholder nomination must be received no earlier than the 120th day prior to such annual meeting and not later than the close of business on the later of the 90th day prior to such annual meeting or the tenth day following the day on which public announcement of the date of the meeting is first made. Public announcement or postponement of an annual meeting of stockholders shall not commence a new time period or extend any time period for the timing of the stockholder nomination.

### **Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation**

No member of the Compensation Committee is or was during 2015 an employee, or is or ever has been an officer, of the Company. During 2015, no executive officer served as a member of the Compensation Committee or as a director of another entity having an executive officer serving on our Compensation Committee or as one of our directors.

### **Code of Conduct**

We have adopted a Code of Conduct that applies to all of our directors and employees, including all senior executive and financial officers. A copy of our Code of Conduct is available on our website at <a href="https://www.lime-energy.com/investors">https://www.lime-energy.com/investors</a> under Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.

In addition, any stockholder may receive a copy of the Code of Conduct or any of our committee charters in print, without charge, by contacting Investor Relations at (201) 416-2575 or *investorrelations@lime-energy.com*. We intend to post any amendments to our Code of Conduct on our website. In addition, we intend to disclose any waiver of a provision of the Code of Conduct that applies to our senior executives and financial officers, by posting such information on our website or by filing a Form 8-K with the SEC within the prescribed time period.

#### Stockholder Communications with the Board

Stockholders and other interested parties may send communications to our Board by sending written notice to:

Lime Energy Co.
Attention: Corporate Secretary
4 Gateway Center, 4th Floor, 100 Mulberry Street
Newark, NJ 07102

The notice may specify whether the communication is directed to the entire Board, to the independent directors, to a particular Board committee, or to an individual director.

All communications by stockholders or other interested parties addressed to the Board will be sent directly to Board members. While our Corporate Secretary may review, sort, and summarize these communications, all direct communications will be presented to the non-management directors unless there is instruction from them to filter such communications (and in such event, any communication that has been filtered out will be made available to any non-management director who wishes to review it). At each regular meeting of the Board, our Corporate Secretary will present a summary of all communications received since the previous meeting that were not forwarded and will make those communications available to any director on request.

### Table of Contents

#### COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS

#### **Director Compensation Program**

In June 2010, we adopted the 2010 Non-Employee Directors Stock Plan (the 2010 Directors Plan ) to provide non-employee directors with stock-based compensation. The 2010 Directors Plan provides for the granting of restricted stock awards to non-employee directors to compensate them for their services to the Company, provide an inducement for non-employee directors to remain with the Company, and to provide a means through which we may attract qualified persons who are not also employees of the Company to serve on the Board. The use of the shares available under the 2010 Directors Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee has determined under the 2010 Directors Plan to grant non-employee directors restricted shares of Company stock with the following market values on the date of grant:

### Market Value of Grant

For Board Service:	
Each director upon initial election:	\$ 40,000
Annual grant to each director:	\$ 20,000
For Committee Service:	
Audit Committee:	
Chairman	\$ 15,000
Members	\$ 10,000
Compensation Committee:	
Chairman	\$ 10,000
Members	\$ 5,000
Governance and Nominating Committee:	
Chairman	\$ 5,000
Members	\$ 2,500

The 2010 Directors Plan provides for stock awards for Board service to be made on the first business day of the year and stock awards for committee service to be made to a director upon the director s appointment to the committee following the annual meeting of stockholders. Newly-elected directors receive their initial grant upon election. Restricted stock granted to date under the Directors Plan for Board service vest 50% upon grant and 50% on the first to occur of the first anniversary of the grant date, if the director is then still serving on the Board, or the director s death, disability, or retirement. Restricted stock granted under the Directors Plan for committee service vest 50% upon grant and 50% on the first to occur of the first anniversary of the grant date, if the director is then still serving on the committee, or the director s death, disability, or retirement.

During 2015, we granted 54,901 shares of restricted stock to directors for their service on the Board and 18,728 shares for committee service. Of these shares, 64,267 shares vested during 2015 and the remaining 9,362 shares are to vest during 2016. In addition, three directors who joined our Board in 2014 received an aggregate of 18,784 shares at \$2.52 per share, which represents the balance of their initial stock awards that they had not received during 2014 following their initial appointment to the Board.

# Table of Contents

Directors who are also our employees do not receive additional compensation for their services as directors.

### **Director Compensation Table**

The following table provides compensation information for the year ended December 31, 2015 for each of our non-employee directors.

Name	Fees Earned or Paid in Cash (\$)	Stock Awards (\$)(1)	Option Awards (\$)	All Other Compensation (\$)	Total (\$)
Gregory T. Barnum (2)		40,000			40,000
Christopher Capps (2)		32,500			32,500
Stephen Glick (2) (3)		40,000			40,000
Andreas Hildebrand (2)		22,005			22,005
Richard P. Kiphart (2)		32,500			32,500
Peter S. Macdonald (2)		20,711			20,711
Tommy Mike Pappas (2)		31,239			31,239

(1) The following table set forth details of the grants in the table above.

	Grant Type	Grant Date	Number of Shares	Fair V	Share Market alue on	_	gregate ket Value
C T.D	D 1	02/12/15	7.042		nt Date	d.	20,000
Gregory T. Barnum	Board	02/12/15	7,843	\$	2.55	\$	20,000
	Committee	06/19/15	5,763	\$	3.47	\$	20,000
Christopher Capps	Board	02/12/15	7,843	\$	2.55	\$	20,000
	Committee	06/19/15	3,602	\$	3.47	\$	20,000
Stephen Glick	Board	02/12/15	7,843	\$	2.55	\$	20,000
	Committee	06/19/15		\$			
Andreas Hildebrand	Board	02/12/15	7,843		2.55	\$	20,000
		03/12/15	7,654		2.52		19,289
	Committee	06/19/15	2,161	\$	3.47	\$	7,500
Richard P. Kiphart	Board	02/12/15	7,843	\$	2.55	\$	20,000
	Committee	06/19/15	3,602	\$	3.47	\$	10,000
Peter S. Macdonald	Board	02/12/15	7,843		2.55	\$	20,000
		03/12/15	7,654		2.52		19,289
	Committee	06/19/15	1,440	\$	3.47		5,000
Tommy Mike Pappas	Board	02/12/15	7,843	\$	2.55	\$	20,000
		03/12/15	3,476	\$	2.52	\$	8,761
	Committee	06/19/15	2,881	\$	3.47	\$	10,000

(2) The following table sets forth for each of our non-executive directors the (i) outstanding stock awards held as of December 31, 2015, and (ii) the

# Table of Contents

number of options outstanding as of December 31, 2015:

Director Name	Number of Stock Awards	Total Options Outstanding
Andreas Hildebrand	1,080	
Gregory T. Barnum	2,881	19,916
Christopher Capps	1,801	
Stephen Glick		2,041
Richard P. Kiphart	1,440	
Peter S. Macdonald	720	
Tommy Mike Pappas	1,440	

(3) Mr. Glick did not stand for re-election to the Board at the 2015 annual meeting of our stockholders.

### **Table of Contents**

#### **EXECUTIVE OFFICERS**

Below are the names, positions, and brief description of the business experience of our current executive officers:

### C. ADAM PROCELL

Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

Since: 2014 Age: 48

Mr. Procell has served as our President and Chief Executive Officer since November 2013. His biography is contained in the section of this proxy statement entitled Nominee Information above.

### MARY COLLEEN BRENNAN

Title: Chief Financial Officer (outgoing)

Since: 2014 Age: 63

Biographical Information: Ms. Brennan serves as the Company s Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer, a role she assumed in April 2014. She has also served as the Company s Corporate Secretary since May 2014. Ms. Brennan was an independent finance and business management consultant prior to joining the Company. Previously, Ms. Brennan served for eight years as Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Treasurer for Halcrow, Inc., a privately-held global design engineering firm, where she was responsible for all areas of finance, accounting, treasury and tax. In 2012, Ms. Brennan filed for personal bankruptcy protection under the United States Bankruptcy Code. Ms. Brennan earned her Masters of Business Administration with a concentration in accounting and her Bachelors in Business from Pace University. She is a licensed CPA in the State of New Jersey. Ms. Brennan will be stepping down from her position as Chief Financial Officer of the Company but will remain with the Company in a transitionary role until May 31, 2016.

### BRUCE D. TORKELSON

Title: Chief Financial Officer (incoming)

Since: 2016 Age: 47

Biographical Information: Effective May 13, 2016, Mr. Torkelson will become the Company s Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Torkelson has served as Corporate Vice President Financial Planning of CalAtlantic Homes (previously Standard Pacific Homes and Ryland Homes), one of the nation s largest and most respected homebuilders, since January 2010. In this role, Mr. Torkelson focused on long-term planning and strategic initiatives. From March 2008 until January 2010, he was Vice President Corporate Operations of Standard Pacific Homes. Prior to that, he occupied various financial and accounting roles of increasing responsibility from 1999. Mr. Torkelson holds a Bachelor of Science in Business degree from Miami University of Illinois.

n 1	1		0			
Tal	٦le	• U.	† ( '	on	ten	ŧ٩

#### **EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION**

### **Overview of Executive Compensation Program**

We compensate our executives, including our named executive officers, using a balanced approach that combines fixed and performance-based compensation, annual and long-term compensation, and cash and equity compensation. We do not have a specific policy for the allocation of compensation among the various elements of our executive compensation.

We manage our business with the long-term goal of creating and maximizing stockholder value and, accordingly, a significant percentage of the 2015 executive compensation is at risk and weighted towards company performance, long-term incentives and stock price appreciation. We think this is a key to our long-term success.

Our executive officers have generally received compensation consisting of three components:

- a cash component, consisting of salary meant to be competitive with salaries such individuals could obtain from other employers;
- eligibility for annual cash bonuses determined by the Compensation Committee based on our performance and the executive s achievement of individual objectives; and
- stock options intended to reward achievement of long-term goals and align the interests of our executive officers with those of our stockholders.

The Compensation Committee of the Board makes all compensation decisions for our executive officers. Generally, in making compensation decisions for executive officers other than our chief executive officer, the Compensation Committee takes into account recommendations made by our chief executive officer.

### **Objectives of Compensation Program**

Compensation of our executive officers is intended to reward improved overall financial performance of the Company, and to reward performance achievements and increases in stockholder value over the long term.

- Annual salaries for executive officers have been established with the goal of attracting and retaining qualified individuals for the positions. These salaries have been determined on a case-by-case basis.
- Short-term incentive compensation awards are intended to reward our executives for the achievement of annual performance criteria and are flexible and change based on the needs of our business. These awards are generally determined pursuant to our Management Incentive Plan, although the Management Incentive Plan does not prohibit discretionary bonuses in addition to those under the plan. Short-term incentive compensation has historically taken the form of cash bonuses and stock awards.
- Restricted stock grants and stock options awards are intended to motivate and reward achievement leading to increases in our profitability and stockholder value over the longer term. The amounts awarded are determined as prescribed in the Management Incentive Plan.

To motivate executive officers to achieve the longer-term goal of increasing our profitability and stockholder value, and to reward them for achieving such long-term goals, stock awards and stock options have been included as part of the compensation structure for our executive officers. Incentive awards provide an increased opportunity for equity ownership by our executive officers, thereby further aligning their interests with those of our stockholders. These grants are generally made in a manner consistent with the Management Incentive Plan, though the Compensation Committee has latitude to determine the amount of short-term incentive compensation to be paid in the form of cash versus stock grants. All stock grants have been in the form of restricted stock that vests ratably over a three-year period subject to the executive s continued employment by us on each vesting date. A typical stock option grant has a 10-year exercise period, vests over a three-year period subject to the executive remaining employed by us, and has an exercise price equal to the market price on the grant date. We have not granted options with an exercise price that is less than the market price on the grant date.

We do not have a formula for allocating between cash and non-cash compensation. The number of shares of restricted

### **Table of Contents**

stock and stock options awarded to an executive officer has been decided on a case-by-case basis taking into consideration other components of compensation, not pursuant to any specific guidelines or program.

The Compensation Committee considered several factors in assessing our executives performance on an individual basis.

Mr. Procell, as Chief Executive Officer, has oversight responsibility for all areas of our business. The Compensation Committee considered his leadership in establishing and executing on our growth strategies and evolving our business while continuing to achieve strong financial results. The Committee also recognized his efforts in working to create future opportunities and positioning the organization for long-term success. In addition, the Committee considered the excellent performance of each of the executives reporting to him, as well as his recruitment and hiring of key employees and development of internal talent, which we expect to support and drive our growing company.

Ms. Brennan, our Chief Financial Officer, has responsibility for our corporate finance and accounting, financial planning, tax and investor relations functions, as well as operational oversight of our risk management department. The Committee recognized Ms. Brennan s significant work in integrating EnerPath into our public company reporting framework and overseeing its control environment preparedness, as well as providing continued corporate finance and accounting support across our organization. The Committee also recognized her work supporting the functioning of our Board and managing investor relations.

### **Long-Term Incentive Compensation**

Equity Incentive Compensation. In 2008, we established the 2008 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the 2008 Plan ) to enhance long-term profitability and stockholder value by offering Common Stock and Common Stock-based and other performance incentives to certain of our employees, directors, and consultants. We view the 2008 Plan, which is administered by the Compensation Committee, as a vehicle to attract and retain employees who are key to our growth and success, and to align our employees economic incentives with those of our stockholders. The 2008 Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee. The 2008 Plan provides the Compensation Committee with the flexibility to make awards at various times and in varying amounts in its discretion and where particular circumstances warrant. In considering whether to make long-term equity-based compensatory awards and how to design them, the Compensation Committee takes into account stockholder dilution issues and related concerns.

The Compensation Committee believes that stock option awards are an important and useful component of our overall compensation program. Stock options generally expire after ten years and vest ratably over three years. If an officer dies, unexercised stock options generally are forfeited within three months. If an officer s employment terminates as a result of a disability, unexercised stock options generally are forfeited within one year. If an officer otherwise leaves our employ for any reason other than for cause, unexercised stock options generally are forfeited three months after termination of employment. If an officer s employment is terminated for cause, unexercised stock options are typically forfeited upon termination of employment.

Management Incentive Compensation Plan. In 2009, our Compensation Committee recommended to our Board, and our Board adopted, the 2009 Management Incentive Compensation Plan (the Management Incentive Plan ) pursuant to which certain of our executive officers are eligible for cash awards and, in lieu of cash awards, equity-based awards (subject to the availability of shares of Common Stock and the other terms of the 2008 Plan) based upon criteria set forth in the Management Incentive Plan or established by our Compensation Committee. The Management Incentive Plan is designed to promote the interests of the Company and the stockholders by providing incentives to participating officers and key employees of the Company and its subsidiaries and to reward performance.

Performance goals for the Management Incentive Plan participants include, but need not be limited to, the following goal categories:
(a) Company performance objectives, comprising revenue and earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization and stock-based compensation targets, and (b) individual performance objectives. The relative weight among the performance goal categories vary based on the participant s position within the Company. The weighting is reviewed annually and may be adjusted by our Compensation Committee.

Each participant is informed at the beginning of, or soon after the beginning of, each fiscal year, of his or her Management Incentive Plan base salary, which will be the basis for determining the award opportunity for that participant, and which amount will be allocated among the participant s performance goal categories. In addition, the Management Incentive Plan provides that the Compensation Committee is responsible for designating three performance levels: a Threshold, a Target and a Maximum level; and setting a percentage incentive opportunity for each performance level.

### **Table of Contents**

Alignment of Pay and Performance. Our executive compensation program links compensation to Company and individual performance over both the short- and long-term. We believe the structure of our Management Incentive Plan and the decisions of our Compensation Committee with respect to bonus awards are strongly aligned with our primary corporate objective of revenue growth and EBITDA improvement. The plan also allows the Compensation Committee the flexibility to award bonuses based on its view of performance, including qualitative factors that benefit our long-term objectives, even though they may not always be reflected in our operating results.

In 2015, we granted to a number of our officers options to purchase shares of our Common Stock. See Outstanding Equity Awards at 2015 Fiscal Year-End below for a description of the stock option awards to Mr. Procell and Ms. Brennan. All equity awards were granted at no less than the fair market value of our Common Stock at the time of the grants, as determined by the Compensation Committee and approved by the Board.

Although the full grant date fair value of our executive stock option awards is reported as 2015 compensation, the awards are designed to reward performance across a multi-year period. Executives would realize value from the awards, if any, only following the completion of the vesting period with respect to such award (or the applicable portion thereof). The Compensation Committee believes that tying the value of the awards directly to the Company s stock price provides true alignment with an investor s view of our performance over this time.

# Other Benefits and Perquisites

Our named executive officers receive the same company-wide benefits as are generally available to all other executive-level employees, such as short- and long-term disability insurance, group health insurance, basic life insurance and eligibility for supplemental health and life insurance, access to flexible health care reimbursement accounts and 401(k) discretionary matching. In addition, we provide Mr. Procell with a monthly vehicle allowance due to the fact that he uses his cars extensively for Company business.

#### **Executive Employment Agreements**

Mr. Procell

Mr. Procell entered into an employment agreement with a subsidiary of the Company in March 2009. The employment agreement currently provides that Mr. Procell s annual base salary shall be determined by the Company in its sole discretion and that he shall be eligible for an annual bonus of up to 50% of his annual base salary. Mr. Procell s current annual base salary is \$335,000. The employment agreement currently does not provide for any fixed period of employment or severance payments. The agreement imposes non-competition, non-solicitation and confidentiality obligations, which are not separately compensated. The non-competition and non-solicitation obligations cover the employment period and extend for one year after termination.

Ms. Brennan

Ms. Brennan entered into an employment agreement with a subsidiary of the Company in April 2014 that provides for an initial two-year employment period, renewable automatically for additional successive one-year periods unless the Company provides Ms. Brennan with a notice of non-renewal before November 1st of the then-current term. The agreement provides that Ms. Brennan is eligible for an annual bonus of up to 50% of her annual base salary.

Ms. Brennan s employment agreement imposes non-competition, non-solicitation and confidentiality obligations, which are not separately compensated. The non-competition and non-solicitation obligations cover the employment period and extend for one year after termination for any reason other than due to death, disability or by the Company without due cause.

On April 14, 2016, we announced that Ms. Brennan would be stepping down from her position as Chief Financial Officer, effective May 13, 2016. She will remain with the Company in a transitional role until May 31, 2016. We entered into a separation agreement with Ms. Brennan pursuant to which she will receive the following payments and benefits: (i) severance payments equal to her current base salary for a period of nine months, paid out pursuant to the Company s normal payroll practices; (ii) immediate vesting of her unvested stock option and unvested restricted stock awards; (iii) COBRA premiums for nine months for herself at the active employee rate for participation in the Company s medical expense plan; and (iv) on the separation date, the awards previously granted to Ms. Brennan in the form of options to purchase 10,000 shares of Common Stock, at an exercise price of \$2.89 per share, and 83,881 shares of Common Stock, at an exercise price of \$2.95 per share, will be cancelled in exchange for a cash payment in a per-share amount equal to the excess of the closing price of the Common Stock on NASDAQ on the business day coincident with or first following the separation date over the applicable exercise price. Ms. Brennan s receipt of the payments and benefits described

### **Table of Contents**

above is contingent on her execution and delivery of a waiver and release contained in the separation agreement and her execution of a second release agreement on or after the separation date.

#### Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control

The following table shows potential payments to the current named executive officers under existing contracts, agreements, plans or arrangements, whether written or unwritten, for various scenarios involving a change-in-control or termination of employment assuming a December 31, 2015 termination date and, where applicable, using the closing price of our Common Stock of \$2.88 per share on that date.

Name	oluntary mination (1)	Involuntary Fermination - Not For Cause (2)	7	Involuntary Fermination - For Cause (3)	Change in Control (4)	Death (5)	Disability (5)
C. Adam Procell	\$ 30,240	\$ 54,389	\$	30,240	\$ 24,149	\$ 30,240	\$ 30,240
Mary Colleen Brennan	\$ 9,182	\$ 124,182	\$	9,182	\$ 4,798	\$ 13,980	\$ 13,980

- (1) Neither of our named executive officers is entitled to more than accrued but unpaid salary and vacation upon a voluntary termination of their employment. The amounts listed consist solely of accrued vacation pay as of December 31, 2015.
- Upon involuntary termination other than for due cause at December 31, 2015, Mr. Procell s unvested shares of restricted stock would have vested immediately and he would have been entitled to accrued but unpaid salary and vacation. Upon involuntary termination other than for due cause at December 31, 2015, Ms. Brennan would have been entitled to six months of base salary and accrued but unpaid salary and vacation.
- (3) Neither of our named executive officers is entitled to more than accrued but unpaid salary and vacation upon an involuntary termination for cause.
- (4) Neither of our named executive officers would be entitled to any payments upon a change of control unless they were involuntarily terminated without cause, but any unvested restricted stock and unvested options would immediately vest. As of December 31, 2015, the intrinsic values of executives options were as follows:

Name	Valu	ıe*
C. Adam Procell	\$	0
Mary Colleen Brennan	\$	0

<sup>\*</sup> Calculated as the excess, if any, of the market value on December 31, 2015 of \$2.88 per share over the option strike price.

As of December 31, 2015, the value of executives unvested restricted stock was as follows:

Name	Value*
C. Adam Procell	\$ 24,149
Mary Colleen Brennan	\$ 4,798

<sup>\*</sup> Calculated as the market value on December 31, 2015 of \$2.88 per share times the number of unvested shares of restricted stock vesting upon a change in control.

Neither of our named executive officers is entitled to more than accrued but unpaid salary and vacation upon their death or permanent disability; except that, assuming a termination due to death or disability at December 31, 2015, all of Ms. Brennan s unvested restricted stock would have vested immediately.

Table of Contents
Other Matters
Clawback Policy
On August 13, 2015, the Company adopted an incentive compensation clawback policy requiring the recoupment of incentive-based compensation granted on or after the policy s effective date from current and former executive officers, and such other employees of the Company who may from time to time be deemed subject to the policy by the Board. Among other things, the policy provides that in the event the Company is required to prepare an accounting restatement of its financial statements due to the Company s material noncompliance with any financial reporting requirement under the securities laws, the Board will require reimbursement or forfeiture of any excess incentive compensation received by any covered employee during the three completed fiscal years immediately preceding the date on which the Company is required to prepare an accounting restatement. For purposes of the policy, excess incentive compensation means incentive-based compensation that was paid to an employee covered by the policy in excess of the amount that would have been paid to such employee based on the accounting restatement.
Tax and Accounting Treatment of Compensation; Section 162(m) Limits
Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718 requires a charge to compensation expense for the fair value of equity compensation awards. Grants of options and restricted stock are accounted for under ASC 718. The Compensation Committee considers the accounting implications of significant compensation decisions, particularly in connection with decisions that relate to the Company s long-term incentive awards.
Section 162(m) of the Code places a limit of \$1,000,000 on the amount of compensation that we may deduct in any one year with respect to our Chief Executive Officer and three most highly paid executive officers (other than our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer). Certain performance-based compensation approved by stockholders is not subject to the deduction limit. The 2008 Plan is qualified such that stock options and stock appreciation rights under the 2008 Plan may constitute performance-based compensation not subject to Section 162(m) of the Code. One of the requirements for equity compensation plans is that there must be a limit to the number of shares granted to any one individual under the plan. Accordingly, the 2008 Plan provides that no employee may be granted more than 1,000,000 shares in any calendar year.

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and considered risk implications and incentives created by our executive compensation program and our compensation policies and practices for the Company as a whole. The Compensation Committee believes that our compensation program does not create risks that are reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on us.

**Compensation Risk Assessment** 

### **Table of Contents**

#### **EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION TABLES**

### **Summary Compensation Table**

The following table sets forth compensation earned in 2015 and 2014 by our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer serving as of December 31, 2015. These individuals are referred to in this proxy statement as the named executive officers.

Name and Principal Position	Year	s	alary (\$)	F	Bonus (\$)	Stock Awards (\$)(1)	A	option wards \$)(2)	All Other Compensation (\$)			Total (\$)
C. Adam Procell	2015	\$	335,000	\$	85,011		\$	357,612	\$	7,882	(3)	\$ 785,505
President & Chief Executive Officer	2014	\$	240,001	\$	120,000	79,999	\$		\$	6,515		446,515
Mary Colleen Brennan	2015	\$	230,000	\$	48,997		\$	155,040	\$	4,863	(5)	\$ 438,900
Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer	2014	\$	153,254	\$	42,068	16,050	\$		\$	2,070	(5)	\$ 213,442

(1)	) ]	Represents t	he val	ue of	restri	cted	shares	based	on 1	he marl	ket	price of	of	the s	hares	on 1	the c	late of	f grai	nt.
-----	-----	--------------	--------	-------	--------	------	--------	-------	------	---------	-----	----------	----	-------	-------	------	-------	---------	--------	-----

- (2) The amount reported reflects the grant date fair value of the stock option awards using an Enhanced Hull-White Trinomial option pricing model. The assumptions used in calculating these amounts are incorporated by reference to Note 21 to our Consolidated Financial Statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015. The amounts reported do not reflect our accounting expense for these awards during the fiscal year and may not represent the amounts our executives will actually realize from the awards.
- (3) Includes \$6,000 auto allowance and \$1,882 for group life and disability insurance provided to Mr. Procell in 2015.
- (4) Includes \$6,000 auto allowance and \$515 for group life and disability insurance provided to Mr. Procell in 2014.
- (5) Represents \$1,717 auto allowance, \$862 of 401(k) match, and \$2,284 for life insurance and long-term disability insurance provided to Ms. Brennan.

### Realized Pay for 2015

A significant portion of the 2015 pay reported in the Summary Compensation Table above relates to the stock option awards made during 2015. We are required to report the grant date fair value of the stock option grants in the Summary Compensation Table, even though the ability of our executives to realize value from these awards is contingent on vesting and our future stock price. These awards are scheduled to vest on a three-year schedule. Our stock price must have appreciated by the exercise date for any value to be realized from these awards.

Reported pay includes actual annual cash compensation, long-term retirement benefits, and long-term equity incentive opportunities. Both the long-term retirement benefits and the long-term equity incentive opportunities are based on accounting and performance assumptions that may or may not be realized.

Realized pay consists of the amounts actually paid to the named executive officer. Realized pay includes taxable pay including base salary, cash incentives, taxable fringe benefits, and taxable payouts under the 2008 Plan. Taxable fringe benefits included in realized pay include auto allowance and health and welfare benefits. Realized pay does not include supplemental long-term disability plan premiums paid by the Company, a 401(k) plan company match, and a 401(k) plan employer contribution.

# Table of Contents

# Outstanding Equity Awards at 2015 Fiscal Year-End

The following table sets forth information regarding all outstanding equity awards held by our named executive officers at December 31, 2015.

			Option Av	vards				Stock A	wards	
										entive plan ards:
										Market of
									Number of	Payout Value
									Unearned	of Unearned
							Number of	Market Value	Shares, Units	Shares, Units
		Number o	f Securities				Shares or	of Shares of	or other	or Other
		Unde	erlying	(	Option	Option	Units of Stock	Units That	Rights That	Rights That
		Unexercis	ed Options	E	xercise	Expiration	That Have Not	Have Not	Have Not	Have Not
	Grant Date	Exercisable	Unexercisable		Price	Date	Vested	Vested(5)	Vested	Vested
			(4)							
Procell, C. Adam	04/06/09									
		2,859		\$	25.90	04/06/19				
	01/03/12	3,894		\$	22.82	12/31/21				
	01/03/12	3,894		\$	22.82	12/31/21				
	09/18/15(3)		162,539	\$	2.95	09/18/25				
Brennan, Mary Colleen	04/23/14(2)						1,666	\$4,798		

09/18/15(3) 73,881 \$ 2.95 09/18/25

- (1) On January 7, 2014, Mr. Procell received a grant of 25,157 shares, of which 8,387 vested on December 31, 2014, 8,385 vested on December 31, 2015, and the remaining 8,385 will vest on December 31, 2016.
- (2) On April 23, 2014, Ms. Brennan received a grant of 5,000 shares, of which 1,667 vested on December 31, 2014, 1,667 vested on December 31, 2015, and the remaining 1,666 will vest on December 31, 2016.
- On January 5, 2015, Mr. Procell and Ms. Brennan received options to purchase 66,000 and 30,000 shares, respectively. In addition, on September 18, 2015, Mr. Procell and Ms. Brennan received options to purchase 162,539 and 73,881 shares, respectively. Each of these options is subject to a three-year vesting schedule but would vest immediately upon change of control of the Company or the involuntary termination of employment for reasons other than cause, death or permanent disability.

# Table of Contents

(4) The vesting dates for the options which were not exercisable are as follows:

	E	Option xercise Price	Quantity	Vesting Date
Procell, C. Adam	\$	22.82	3,894	12/31/14
	\$	2.89	22,000	01/05/17
	\$	2.89	22,000	01/05/18
	\$	2.89	22,000	01/05/17
	\$	2.95	54,180	09/25/16
	\$	2.95	54,180	09/25/17
	\$	2.95	54,179	09/25/18
Brennan, Mary Colleen	\$	2.89	10,000	01/05/17
•	\$	2.89	10,000	01/05/18
	\$	2.95	24,627	09/25/16
	\$	2.95	24,627	09/25/17
	\$	2.95	24.627	09/25/18

(5) Based on \$2.88 per share, the closing price of our Common Stock on December 31, 2015.

# **Option Re-Pricing**

We have not engaged in any option re-pricings or other modifications to any of our outstanding equity awards during fiscal year 2015.

# Table of Contents

# **EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION**

The following table presents information regarding our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2015.

Plan Category	Number of Securities to be Issued Upon Exercise of Outstanding Options, Warrants and Rights		Weighted- Average Exercise Price of Outstanding Options, Warrants and Rights	Number of Securities Remaining Available for Future Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans (Excluding Securities Reflected in the First Column)	
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders	1,281,075	9	\$	533,972	(1)
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders					(2)
<u>Fotal</u>	1,281,075			533,972	

<sup>(1)</sup> Includes 223,023 shares of Common Stock available for future issuance under the 2008 Plan (including shares issuable in connection with awards under the Management Incentive Plan), 82,288 shares of Common Stock available for future issuance under the 2015 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, and 242,700 shares of Common Stock available for future issuance under the 2010 Non-Employee Directors Stock Plan.

### **Table of Contents**

#### PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS AND MANAGEMENT OWNERSHIP

As of April 18, 2016, the record date, there were 9,630,668 shares of our Common Stock and 10,000 shares of our Series C Preferred Stock issued and outstanding. Each share of Common Stock entitles the holder thereof to one vote with respect to each item to be voted on by holders of the shares of Common Stock. In addition, each share of Series C Preferred Stock entitles the holder thereof to 416.66 votes per share with respect to each item to be voted on, in each case voting together as a single class with holders of our Common Stock, except as provided by law or by the provisions of our Certificate of Incorporation. As of the record date, we had no other securities, voting or nonvoting, outstanding.

The following tables set forth information regarding the beneficial ownership of our securities as of April 18, 2016 by (i) each person known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of the outstanding shares of our voting securities; (ii) each of our directors and named executive officers; and (iii) all of our directors and executive officers as a group (eight persons). Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC. Except as otherwise noted, the persons or entities named have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares shown as beneficially owned by them, and, except as otherwise indicated, the address of each person listed in the following table is c/o Lime Energy Co., 4 Gateway Center, 4th Floor, 100 Mulberry Street, Newark, NJ 07102.

Beneficial Owners of Greater Than 5% of our Voting Securities (determined in accordance with Rule 13d-3 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934):

The following table sets forth information concerning beneficial ownership of our Common Stock by persons or groups known to us to be beneficial owners of more than 5% of our voting securities outstanding as of April 18, 2016. The applicable percentage of beneficial ownership is based on 9,630,668 shares outstanding as of April 18, 2016. Except as indicated by the footnotes below, the Company believes, based on information available to it, that the persons and entities named in the table below have sole voting and investment power with respect to all common shares that they beneficially own, subject to applicable community property laws.

Title of Class	Name and Address	Amount of Shares Directly Held	Shares of Common Stock Issuable Upon Conversion of Preferred Stock	Total	% of Class
Common Stock	The John Thomas Hurvis Revocable Trust dated March 8, 2002(1)	1,956,916		1,956,916	20.3
Common Stock	Nettlestone Enterprises Limited(2)	483,809		483,809	5.0
Common Stock	Richard P. Kiphart(3)	4,108,357		4,108,357	42.7
Common Stock	Greener Capital Partners II, L.P.(4)	787,028		787,028	8.2
Series C Preferred Stock	Bison Capital Partners IV, L.P. and Bison Capital Partners IV,	10,000	4,166,666(5)	10,000	100(5)

GP, L.P.(5)
* Denotes beneficial ownership of less than 1%.
(1) This information is based on a Schedule 13D/A filed on March 5, 2015 by The John Thomas Hurvis Revocable Trust dated March 8, 2002 (the Trust ). The address for the Hurvis Trust is 4065 Commercial Ave., Northbrook, IL 60062. John Thomas Hurvis is the sole trustee of the Hurvis Trust.
(2) This information is based on information available to the Company with respect to Nettlestone Enterprises Limited ( Nettlestone ). Nettlestone s address is P.O. Box 665, Rosenearth, The Grange, St. Peter Port, Guernsey GY1 3SJ.
(3) This information is based, in part, on a Schedule 13D/A filed on January 15, 2015 by Richard P. Kiphart ( Kiphart ). Kiphart s address is c/o Lime Energy Co., 4 Gateway Center, 4th Floor, 100 Mulberry Street, Newark, NJ 07102.
(4) This information is based on information available to the Company with respect to Greener Capital Partners II, L.P. ( Greener Capital ). Greener Capital s address is 2150 Allston Way, Suite 280, Berkeley, CA 94704.
As of April 18, 2016, Bison holds 100% of the 10,000 outstanding shares of Series C Preferred Stock, which were convertible (subject to adjustment in accordance with the terms of the Series C Preferred Stock) into 4,166,666 shares of Common Stock (representing beneficial ownership of 30.2% of the Common Stock on an as-converted basis). Bison Capital Partners IV GP, L.P. is the general partner of Bison and shares voting and investment power with Bison. Each disclaims beneficial ownership of the 29,744 shares of Common Stock held by Andreas Hildebrand and the 28,813 shares of Common Stock held by Peter Macdonald. Bison s address is 780 Third Avenue, 30th Floor, New York, NY 10017.
31

### Table of Contents

### Security Ownership of Directors and Executive Officers:

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to the beneficial ownership of the Common Stock, as of April 18, 2016, by (i) each current director, (ii) each named executive officer (as defined under Compensation Discussion and Analysis ), and (iii) all current directors and executive officers as a group.

	Amount of Shares Directly Held	Amount of Shares Held Indirectly	Shares Issuable Upon Exercise of Options Exercisable Within 60 Days (1)	Total	% of Class
Gregory T. Barnum	45,364(2)		19,916	65,280	*
Mary Colleen Brennan	3,334(3)			3,334	*
Christopher W. Capps	65,524(4)			65,524	*
Andreas Hildebrand	29,744(5)			29,744	*
Richard P. Kiphart	4,103,445(6)			4,103,445	42.6
Peter S. Macdonald	28,813(7)			28,813	*
Tommy Mike Pappas	26,967(8)			26,967	*
C. Adam Procell	19,643(9)		31,827	51,470	*
All Directors and Executive Officers as a Group	4,322,834		51,743	4,374,577	45.4

- (1) Represents shares of Common Stock underlying options that are presently exercisable or will become exercisable within 60 days after April 18, 2016.
- (2) This amount does not include 6,353 shares of unvested restricted stock.
- (3) This amount does not include 1,666 shares of unvested restricted stock.
- (4) This amount does not include 5,273 shares of unvested restricted stock.
- (5) This amount does not include 4,552 shares of unvested restricted stock.
- (6) This amount does not include 4,912 shares of unvested restricted stock.
- (7) This amount does not include 4,192 shares of unvested restricted stock.
- (8) This amount does not include 4,912 shares of unvested restricted stock.
- (9) This amount does not include 8,385 shares of unvested restricted stock.

 $<sup>\</sup>ast$  Denotes beneficial ownership of less than 1%.

### Changes in Control

We are not aware of any arrangements, including any pledge by any person of our stock, the operation of which may at a subsequent date result in a change of control of the Company.

### SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our directors and executive officers and persons who beneficially own more than 10% of a registered class of our equity securities to file with the SEC reports regarding their ownership of Common Stock and other equity securities of the Company. The required reports consist of initial statements on Form 3, statements of changes on Form 4, and annual statements on Form 5. Directors, officers and greater than 10% stockholders are required by the SEC rules to furnish us with copies of the Section 16(a) reports they file

Based solely on our review of the copies of such forms received by us and written representations from our executive officers and directors, we believe that, during 2015, all filing requirements applicable to our directors and executive officers and persons who own more than 10% of a registered class of our equity securities under Section 16(a) were complied with on a timely basis.

### **Table of Contents**

#### CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

#### **Related Party Transaction Procedures**

From time to time, we have participated in transactions in which one or more of our directors, executive officers or large stockholders has an interest. These transactions are described below. All related party transactions require the approval of our Audit Committee (a committee comprised entirely of independent directors), which reviews the transaction for fairness, business purpose, and reasonableness. Each transaction involving the Company and an affiliate entered into during 2015 was approved by our Audit Committee.

In addition, our Code of Conduct requires that our directors, officers and employees avoid engaging in any activity that might create a conflict of interest or a perception of a conflict of interest. These individuals are required to raise any proposed or actual transaction that they believe may create a conflict of interest for consideration and review by the Audit Committee. In any situation where a member of the Audit Committee could be perceived as having a potential conflict of interest, that member would be expected to recuse himself from the matter, and the non-interested members of the Audit Committee would review the transaction.

On an annual basis, each director and executive officer completes a Directors and Officers Questionnaire that requires disclosure of any transactions with the Company in which he, or any member of his immediate family, has a direct or indirect material interest.

**Investments and Transactions Involving Affiliates of Certain Stockholders** 

Transactions with Mr. Kiphart and Mr. Capps

Conversion of Subordinated Debt and Sale of Series A Preferred Stock

On September 23, 2013, the Company entered into a Preferred Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement (the Series A Purchase Agreement ) with a group of investors including two of our directors, Mr. Capps and Mr. Kiphart (collectively with the other investors, the Series A Investors ), pursuant to which the Series A Investors purchased 926,223 shares of the Company s Series A Preferred Stock (the Series A Preferred Stock ) at a price of \$10.00 per share of Series A Preferred Stock. The purchase price was paid with (a) \$2.5 million in cash and (b) the exchange of approximately \$6.8 million (principal amount and accrued interest) of the Company s Subordinated Secured Convertible Pay-In-Kind Notes (the Notes ), representing all of the outstanding Notes at the time.

The shares of Series A Preferred Stock were entitled to an accruing dividend of 12.5% per annum of their original issue price (subject to adjustment for stock splits, combinations and similar recapitalizations), payable semi-annually in arrears.

The shares of Series A Preferred Stock were convertible at the election of the holder of such shares, into shares of the Company	s Common
Stock, and the Company could redeem all or a portion of the Series A Preferred Stock at its option subject to certain legal restrict	

On December 23, 2014, in connection with the issuance of shares of our Series C Preferred Stock, all outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock were converted to 3,084,261 shares of Common Stock, and the Series A Warrants that had been issued in connection with the entry into the Series A Purchase Agreement were cancelled.

Sale of Series B Preferred Stock

On December 30, 2013, the Company entered into a Preferred Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement (the Series B Purchase Agreement ) with Mr. Kiphart and a group of other investors (collectively, the Series B Investors ), pursuant to which the Series B Investors purchased 400,000 shares of the Company s Series B Preferred Stock (the Series B Preferred Stock ) at a price of \$10.00 per share of Series B Preferred Stock.

On January 29, 2014, the Company entered into a Series B Purchase Agreement with Greener Capital Partners Fund II, L.P. (Greener Capital), pursuant to which Greener Capital purchased an aggregate of 200,000 shares of the Company s Series B Preferred Stock at a price of \$10.00 per share of Series B Preferred Stock. This transaction closed on February 4, 2014.

The shares of Series B Preferred Stock were entitled to an accruing dividend of 12.5% per annum of their original issue price (subject to adjustment for stock splits, combinations and similar recapitalizations), payable semi-annually in arrears.

### **Table of Contents**

The shares of Series B Preferred Stock were convertible, at any time following the approval of such conversion by the Company s stockholders, and the Company could at any time elect to redeem all or a portion of the Series B Preferred Stock unless prohibited by provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law governing distributions to stockholders.

On December 23, 2014, in connection with the issuance of Series C Preferred Stock, all shares of Series B Preferred Stock were converted to 2,383,437 shares of our Common Stock, and the Series B Warrants that had been issued in connection with the entry into the Series B Purchase Agreement were cancelled.

Letter of Credit Agreement

On August 1, 2014, the Company entered into a Letter of Credit Agreement with Mr. Kiphart (the LOC Agreement ), which replaced a previous letter of credit agreement the Company had entered into with Mr. Kiphart on December 7, 2012. Pursuant to the LOC Agreement, Mr. Kiphart agreed to cause, at the Company s request, the issuance of one or more letters of credit (collectively, the Kiphart Letter of Credit ) for the benefit of a surety, up to an aggregate amount of \$1.3 million. The Kiphart Letter of Credit was used to guarantee certain obligations of the Company in connection with its performance under a contract between the Company and a utility customer. Mr. Kiphart s obligation to cause the issuance of, or leave in place, the Kiphart Letter of Credit was to terminate on December 31, 2019. The Company agreed to indemnify Mr. Kiphart for any liability in connection with any payment or disbursement made under the Kiphart Letter of Credit. The Company also agreed to pay for or reimburse any fees and out-of-pocket expenses incurred by Mr. Kiphart in connection with the Kiphart Letter of Credit. All amounts due to Mr. Kiphart under the LOC Agreement were payable by the Company within ten business days of the Company s receipt of a written demand thereof from Mr. Kiphart.

In addition, the Company agreed to pay Mr. Kiphart simple interest on the aggregate amount of the Kiphart Letter of Credit at a rate of six percent (6%) per annum. The Company accrued interest of \$61,135 during 2015.

As consideration for Mr. Kiphart s obligations under the LOC Agreement, the Company had issued to Mr. Kiphart warrants to purchase 50,000 shares of our Common Stock. The value of the warrants, which was determined to be \$100,000, was capitalized as deferred financing costs. In connection with the issuance of Series C Preferred Stock, the warrants were forfeited and deferred financing costs of \$100,000 were recorded to interest expense.

In May 2015, the Company replaced the Kiphart Letter of Credit with restricted funds of the Company.

Transactions with Bison and its Affiliates

Issuance of Series C Preferred Stock to Bison

On December 23, 2014, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the Series C Purchase Agreement ) with Bison (the transactions contemplated by the Series C Purchase Agreement, collectively, the Bison Transaction ). Pursuant to the terms of the Series C Purchase Agreement, on December 23, 2014 (the Series C Closing Date ), Bison acquired 10,000 shares of Series C Preferred Stock for an aggregate amount of \$10,000,000 (the Series C Purchase Price ). The Series C Preferred Stock ranks, with respect to payment of dividends and distribution of assets upon the liquidation, winding-up or dissolution of the Company, senior to the Common Stock, whether now outstanding or hereafter issued, and to each other class or series of capital stock of the Company, including any series of preferred stock established after the Closing Date. Each share of Series C Preferred Stock accrues a semi-annual dividend at the rate of 12.5% per annum on the original per share issue price of the Series C Preferred Stock (\$1,000.00) plus the aggregate amount of dividends accrued and unpaid (the Series C Preferred Dividend ). The Company may not pay dividends to any other series of capital stock of the Company unless the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock first receive a payment equal to the greater of any accrued but unpaid Series C Preferred Dividend and the dividend that the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock would have received on an as-converted to Common Stock basis. In the event of a liquidation, dissolution or other deemed liquidation event of the Company, each share of Series C Preferred Stock is entitled to be paid from the assets of the Company that are available to the stockholders of the Company an amount equal to the original issue price of such share plus any accrued but unpaid dividends on such share. The Series C Preferred Stock may convert, at the holder s option, into that number of shares of Common Stock obtained by dividing the conversion value of the Series C Preferred Stock by the conversion price of the Series C Preferred Stock. As of the date of issuance, the conversion value of the Series C Preferred Stock was equal to the original issue price of a share of the Series C Preferred Stock and the conversion price of the Series C Preferred Stock was equal to \$2.40. Both the conversion value and the conversion price are subject to adjustment as set forth in the Certificate of Designation filed on December 23, 2014 (the Series C Certificate of Designation ), including upon certain dilutive issuances of securities by the Company.

### **Table of Contents**

Except with respect to the election of Preferred Directors, as described below, the Series C Preferred Stock votes with the Common Stock of the Company on matters presented to the stockholders of the Company. Each share of Series C Preferred Stock is entitled to cast the number of votes equal to the original issue price of such share divided by \$2.40. The holders of the Series C Preferred Stock are entitled to nominate and elect that number of directors (each a Preferred Director ) of the Company that is consistent with the voting power held by the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock as of the date the Series C Preferred Stock was issued; however, the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock are not entitled to nominate and elect any Preferred Director if such holders own less than 16.36% of the number of shares of the Series C Preferred Stock issued on December 23, 2014. No Preferred Director may be elected if such election would cause the Company to violate any law or corporate governance requirement of any securities exchange on which Common Stock is listed. In accordance with the right to elect Preferred Directors, the Board has nominated each of Andreas Hildebrand and Peter Macdonald to stand for election at the Annual Meeting and Bison has indicated its intent to elect such persons to the Company s Board. Each Preferred Director may be removed by the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock or, upon cause, by the holders of a majority of the Company s outstanding voting power. The holders of the Series C Preferred Stock are also entitled to one additional board observer. In addition to the ability of the holders of Series C Preferred Stock to vote alongside the holders of Common Stock, the holders of a majority of the Series C Preferred Stock must also provide their consent before the Company may take certain actions, including incurring certain amounts of indebtedness, entering into transactions with related persons, entering into new lines of business, modifying the provisions of the Series C Preferred Stock, and issuing any securities that are pari passu or senior to the Series C Preferred Stock.

At any time after March 24, 2019, the fourth anniversary of the Series C Closing Date, the Company has the right to redeem all but not less than all of the Series C Preferred Stock for an amount equal to the original issue price of the shares plus all accrued but unpaid dividends, effective 30 days after giving notice thereof to the holder(s) of the Series C Preferred Stock. During such 30-day period, the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock may convert the Series C Preferred Stock to Common Stock in lieu of receiving the redemption payment. At any time after the fourth anniversary of the Closing Date, a holder of Series C Preferred Stock has the right to require the Company to redeem all or a portion of its Series C Preferred Stock for an amount equal to the original issue price of the shares plus all accrued but unpaid dividends. In the event the Company fails to make the required redemption payment by the date fixed for such payment, the dividend rate will increase to 15% per annum and increase an additional 1% per annum each quarter until paid.

In connection with the Bison Transaction, the Company, Bison, Richard Kiphart and The John Thomas Hurvis Revocable Trust entered into a Shareholder and Investor Rights Agreement dated as of December 23, 2014 (the Bison Shareholder Agreement). Pursuant to the terms of the Bison Shareholder Agreement, in the event the Company proposes to issue new securities (subject to certain exceptions), the Company must allow Bison to purchase a proportion of the new securities equal to the number of shares of Common Stock beneficially owned by Bison divided by the total number of shares of Common Stock outstanding on a fully-diluted basis.

The Bison Shareholder Agreement also provides Bison with operational consent rights and director appointment rights that apply so long as Bison holds at least five percent (5%) of the total voting power of the Company. The stockholders of the Company party to the Bison Shareholder Agreement have agreed to vote in favor of Bison's director appointees. The Bison Shareholder Agreement entitles Bison to nominate one director to the Company's Compensation Committee and any new board committee that is established other than the Audit Committee or the Governance and Nominating Committee, and also entitles Bison to receive certain financial information. In connection with this right, the Board appointed Andreas Hildebrand to the Company's Compensation Committee. Bison may not, subject to certain exceptions in the Bison Shareholder Agreement, acquire additional shares of Common Stock or seek to influence the management of the Company without the Company's consent. Such restrictions will no longer have effect upon certain changes of control of the Company.

Also on December 23, 2014 and in connection with the Bison Transaction, the Company, Bison and certain other stockholders of the Company entered into a Registration Right Agreement (the Bison Registration Rights Agreement). Pursuant to the Bison Registration Rights Agreement, Bison is entitled to certain registration rights in connection with the Common Stock into which its shares of Series C Preferred Stock may convert, including the right to demand the registration of such shares at any time after December 23, 2015 and rights to include such shares in other registration statements filed by the Company. Additionally, certain other stockholders of the Company are entitled to include certain of their shares of Common Stock in a registration statement filed by the Company. The Company has agreed to indemnify the other parties to the

Registration Rights Agreement in connection with any claims related to their sale of securities under a registration statement, subject to certain exceptions.

### **Table of Contents**

\$11.75 Million Note Issuance to Bison

On March 24, 2015, following the approval by members of our Board other than Andreas Hildebrand and Peter Macdonald who had recused themselves due to their ties with Bison, the Company entered into a Note Purchase Agreement (the Note Purchase Agreement) with Bison, pursuant to which the Company issued to Bison a subordinated convertible note due March 24, 2020 (the Note) in the principal amount of \$11.75 million (the Note Issuance). The proceeds from the Note Issuance were used to finance the Company s acquisition of EnerPath International Holding Company, a Delaware corporation (EnerPath). We refer to that acquisition as the EnerPath Acquisition. See our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended on December 31, 2015 for detailed information on this acquisition.

Under the terms of the Note Purchase Agreement, the Company must indemnify Bison and its affiliates from losses, damages and claims arising out of any breach by the Company of its representations, warranties, and covenants. As of the date of the Note Issuance, Bison owned 10,000 shares of Series C Preferred Stock which was, as of such date, convertible into approximately 30% of the Common Stock, making Bison the Company s single largest stockholder.

On March 31, 2015, Bison and the Company entered into an amendment to the Note ( Amendment No. 1 ). As amended, the Note provides that the Company may pay interest at a rate (the Interest Rate ) of 10.5% per annum on the outstanding principal amount, paid semi-annually in cash, or allow interest to accrue and be added to the principal amount at a rate of 12.5% per annum. Upon the occurrence of an event of default under the Note, the Interest Rate would increase by 2.0% per annum until the Note is redeemed or the event of default is cured.

All or any portion of the principal amount of the Note plus all accrued but unpaid interest thereon, but not more than the original principal amount of the Note, may, at the election of the Note holder, be converted into our Common Stock on the earlier of March 24, 2018 or a change of control of the Company. The Note, if converted, would have a dilutive effect on earnings per share and on the equity ownership of the present holders of Common Stock.

The initial conversion price of the Note (\$3.16) was greater than the book and market value of the Common Stock on March 24, 2015. However, the conversion price is subject to anti-dilution adjustments and adjustments in connection with stock splits and similar occurrences and certain other events set forth in the Note. Such adjustments could result in a deemed future price for the Common Stock into which the Note is convertible that is less than the book or market value of the Common Stock on March 24, 2015.

Under the Note, no portion of the outstanding balance under the Note could be converted into more than 19.99% of the outstanding Common Stock (the Conversion Cap ) without the approval of our stockholders, as required by the rules of the NASDAQ Stock Market LLC ( Nasdaq ) on which our Common Stock is traded. On March 24, 2015, three of our stockholders (the Majority Stockholders ) owning, together, 6,055,452 shares of Common Stock and 10,000 shares of our Series C Preferred Stock, or approximately 75% of our then outstanding voting securities, executed a written consent (the Written Consent ) approving and adopting the potential issuance of our Common Stock in excess of the Conversion Cap, but only after the stockholder approval became effective. The stockholder approval became effective on October 15, 2015, which was 20 calendar days after the date our information statement with respect to this approval was first mailed to our stockholders. For additional information on this arrangement, see our information statement filed with the SEC and mailed to our stockholders on September 25, 2015.

The Note is guaranteed by each subsidiary of the Company, including EnerPath and each of its subsidiaries, but will be subordinated to permitted senior indebtedness of the Company of between \$8 million and \$15 million in the aggregate. The actual amount of permitted senior indebtedness will depend on the Company s Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA (as defined in the Note) over a trailing four-quarter period. The Note is secured by a lien on all of the assets of the Company and each of its subsidiaries. The Company may not prepay the Note. The holder of the Note may require the Company to redeem the Note upon an event of default, a change of control, or the Company giving notice of its determination to exercise the Company s redemption right for the Series C Preferred Stock. The Company is subject to certain financial affirmative and negative covenants, including a minimum Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA covenant for trailing 12-month periods beginning March 31, 2016, as set forth in the Note, as amended. Pursuant to Amendment No. 1, if the Company had failed to meet certain trailing 12-month EBITDA targets for the quarters ended June 30, September 30, or December 31, 2015, then for each such quarter in which such EBITDA target had not been met, an additional \$1 million in interest would have accrued and would have been added to the principal. As of December 31, 2015, the Company was in compliance with all applicable covenants under the Note.

On March 30, 2016, we entered into a second amendment to the Note ( Amendment No. 2 ). Amendment No. 2 revised the covenants related to minimum consolidated EBITDA for the four consecutive fiscal quarters ending March 31, 2016, June 30, 2016, September 30, 2016, and December 31, 2016. Pursuant to Amendment No. 2, if we fail to meet the specified trailing EBITDA targets for any of these quarters, then for each such quarter in which such EBITDA target is not met up to an additional \$500,000 in interest will accrue and be added to the note principal (although principal in excess of the original principal amount of the Note of

### Table of Contents

\$11,750,000 may not be converted into shares of Common Stock). As a result of Amendment No. 2, a failure on our part to meet the specified trailing EBITDA targets for any of the four consecutive fiscal quarters ending March 31, 2016, June 30, 2016, September 30, 2016, and December 31, 2016 would not be an event of default under the Note. However, if we are not able to meet the required minimum consolidated EBITDA targets for periods subsequent to December 31, 2016, an event of default will exist under the Note for which Bison could accelerate our repayment of the Note.

In connection with the Note Purchase Agreement, on March 24, 2015, the Company amended and restated the Shareholder and Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of December 23, 2014 (the Original Shareholder Agreement ), by and among the Company, Bison and the other stockholders parties thereto (as amended and restated, the Amended and Restated Shareholder Agreement ) and the Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of December 23, 2014, by and among the Company, Bison and the other stockholders parties thereto (as amended and restated, the Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement ). Pursuant to the terms of the Amended and Restated Shareholder Agreement, in the event the Company proposes to issue new securities (subject to certain exceptions), the Company must allow Bison to purchase a proportion of the new securities equal to the number of shares of Common Stock beneficially owned by Bison (including for this purpose the shares of Common Stock into which the Note could convert) divided by the total number of shares of Common Stock outstanding on a fully-diluted basis. The operational consent rights and director appointment rights held by Bison under the Original Shareholder Agreement remain in the Amended and Restated Shareholder Agreement; with the exception that, in the event Bison is no longer entitled to designate at least one director under the terms of the Series C Preferred Stock, Bison will be entitled under the Amended and Restated Shareholder Agreement to designate that number of directors that is consistent with its ownership of Common Stock (including shares of Common Stock that are issuable upon conversion of the Series C Preferred Stock and the Note, assuming the Note was immediately convertible) provided it holds at least 5% of the Common Stock (computed in the same fashion).

Pursuant to the Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, Bison is entitled to certain registration rights in connection with the Common Stock into which its shares of Series C Preferred Stock and the Note may convert, including the right to demand the registration of such shares at any time after December 23, 2015 and rights to include such shares in other registration statements filed by the Company. Additionally, Mr. Kiphart and the Hurvis Trust are entitled to include certain of their shares of Common Stock in a registration statement filed by the Company. The Company has agreed to indemnify the other parties to the Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement in connection with any claims related to their sale of securities under a registration statement, subject to certain exceptions.

Tabl	le of	Contents

#### INFORMATION REGARDING THE 2016 EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN

#### **Board Adoption**

On April 22, 2016, the Board, acting on recommendation of the Compensation Committee, adopted the Lime Energy Co. 2016 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the 2016 ESPP). The 2016 ESPP allows employees to purchase our Common Stock at a discount using payroll deductions and entitles employees in the United States to receive special tax treatment provided by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the Code).

A copy of the 2016 ESPP is attached as Appendix A to this proxy statement. The description below is a summary and it is not intended to be a complete description of the 2016 ESPP. Please read the 2016 ESPP for more detailed information.

Material Features of the 2016 ESPP

#### Stock Subject to the 2016 ESPP

The 2016 ESPP provides for the issuance of up to 100,000 shares of Common Stock. Such shares may be newly issued shares or shares reacquired in private transactions or open market purchases.

#### **Eligibility**

All of our employees and employees of our affiliates who have been employed for at least six months and whose customary employment is at least 20 hours per week and at least five months per calendar year are eligible to participate in the 2016 ESPP, except for persons who are deemed, under Section 423(b)(3) of the Code, to own 5% or more of our voting stock. Our officers are eligible to participate in the 2016 ESPP, except that the Compensation Committee may provide in any offering period that certain highly compensated employees within the meaning of the Code are ineligible to participate. Approximately 250 employees would be eligible to participate in the 2016 ESPP.

#### **Participation**

The 2016 ESPP provides for a series of two six-month offering periods commencing on July 1, 2016 and January 1, 2017. The Compensation Committee may change the duration of the offering periods; provided that such offering periods comply with the provisions of Section 423(b)(3) of the Code. Employees may elect to become participants in the 2016 ESPP by enrolling during specified enrollment periods. During each offering period, employees who enroll in the 2016 ESPP for the offering period are granted an option to purchase not more than

5,000 shares through the accumulation of payroll deductions of not more than 15% of each participant s compensation (up to a maximum of \$25,000 per calendar year, based on the fair market value of the shares determined as of the date the option to purchase such shares is granted). The number of shares to be purchased will be determined by dividing the participant s balance in the 2016 ESPP account on the last day of the offering period by the purchase price per share for the Common Stock. The purchase price per share will be the lesser of 85% of the fair market value of the Common Stock on the last day of the offering period or 85% of the fair market value on the first day of the offering period. If a fractional number of shares results, the number will be rounded down to the next whole number and the excess funds shall be carried forward to the next offering period. Unless a participant withdraws from the 2016 ESPP, such participant s option will be exercised automatically on the last day of the offering period. No interest shall accrue on a participant s contributions under the 2016 ESPP.

#### Withdrawal

An employee may withdraw all but not less than all the contributions credited to his or her account under the 2016 ESPP at any time at least 15 days prior to the last day of the offering period. Upon termination of a participant s continuous status as an employee prior to the last day of an offering period for any reason, including retirement or death, the contributions credited to such participant s account will be returned to such participant (or such participant s beneficiary in the case of death). In the event a participant fails to remain employed for at least 20 hours per week during an offering period, such participant will be deemed to have withdrawn and the contributions credited to such participant s account shall be returned to such participant. A participant s withdrawal from any offering period will not by itself have any effect upon his or her eligibility to participate in a succeeding offering period.

38

#### **Table of Contents**

#### Administration, Amendment, Termination

The Compensation Committee shall supervise and administer the 2016 ESPP. It shall have full power to adopt, amend and rescind any rules deemed desirable and appropriate for administration of the 2016 ESPP and not inconsistent with the 2016 ESPP, to construe and interpret the 2016 ESPP and to make all other determinations necessary or advisable for the administration of the 2016 ESPP. The Compensation Committee may at any time terminate or amend the 2016 ESPP, except that no such termination may affect options previously granted, nor may an amendment make any change in any option granted which adversely affects the rights of any participant. In addition, to the extent necessary to comply with Section 423 of the Code or any other applicable law or regulation, we must obtain stockholder approval as required.

### Term of 2016 ESPP

The 2016 ESPP became effective upon adoption by the Board and shall terminate one year thereafter, subject to stockholder approval within 12 months of adoption, unless earlier terminated as provided above. No purchases of Common Stock pursuant to the 2016 ESPP shall occur prior to stockholder approval.

Without stockholder consent and without regard to whether any participant rights may be considered to have been adversely affected, the Compensation Committee shall be entitled to change the Offering Periods, change the Exercise Price with respect to future Offering Periods, change the maximum level of payroll deductions that may be elected under the Plan, limit the frequency and/or number of changes in the amount withheld during an Offering Period, establish the exchange ratio applicable to amounts withheld in a currency other than U.S. dollars, permit payroll withholdings in excess of the amount designated by a participant in order to adjust for delays or mistakes in our processing of properly completed withholding elections, establish reasonable waiting and adjustment periods and/or accounting and crediting procedures to ensure that amounts applied toward the purchase of Common Stock for each participant properly correspond with amounts withheld from the participant s Compensation, and establish such other limitations or procedures as the Compensation Committee determines in its sole discretion advisable which are consistent with the Plan.

### Nontransferability

Neither contributions credited to a participant s account nor any rights with respect to the exercise of an option or to receive shares under the 2016 ESPP may be assigned, transferred, pledged or otherwise disposed of in any way other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution. A participant may file a written designation of a beneficiary who is to receive any shares of Common Stock and cash, if any, from the participant s account under the 2016 ESPP in the event of such participant s death subsequent to the end of an offering period but prior to the delivery of such participant s shares of Common Stock and cash. A participant may file a written designation of a beneficiary who is to receive any cash from the participant s account in the event of such participant s death prior to the end of the offering period.

#### Adjustments upon Changes in Stock

Changes in Capitalization. Subject to any required action by our stockholders, the maximum number of shares available for purchase each Offering Period, as well as the price per share and the number of shares of Common Stock covered by each Option under the Plan which has not yet been exercised shall be proportionately adjusted for any increase or decrease in the number of issued shares of Common Stock resulting from a stock split, reverse stock split, stock dividend, combination or reclassification of the Common Stock, or any other increase or decrease in the number of shares of Common Stock effected without our receipt of consideration; provided, however, that conversion of any of our convertible securities shall not be deemed to have been effected without receipt of consideration. Such adjustment shall be made by the Compensation Committee, whose determination in that respect shall be final, binding and conclusive. Except as expressly provided herein, no issuance by us of shares of stock of any class, or securities convertible into shares of stock of any class, shall affect, and no adjustment by reason thereof shall be made with respect to, the number or price of shares of Common Stock subject to an Option.

Dissolution or Liquidation. In the event of the proposed dissolution or liquidation of the Company, the Offering Period then in progress shall be shortened by setting a new exercise date, and shall terminate immediately prior to the consummation of such proposed dissolution or liquidation, unless provided otherwise by the Compensation Committee. The new exercise date shall be before the date of the Company s proposed dissolution or liquidation. The Compensation Committee shall notify each participant in writing, at least ten business days prior to the new exercise date, that the exercise date for the participant s Option has been changed to the new exercise date and that the participant s Option shall be exercised automatically on the new exercise date, unless prior to such date the participant has withdrawn from the Offering Period as provided in the 2016 ESPP.

#### **Table of Contents**

Merger or Asset Sale. In the event of a proposed sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company, or the merger of the Company with or into another corporation, each outstanding Option shall be assumed or an equivalent Option substituted by the successor corporation or an Affiliate of the successor corporation. In the event that the successor corporation refuses to assume or substitute for the option, any Offering Period then in progress shall be shortened by setting a new exercise date and any Offering Period then in progress shall end on the new exercise date. The new exercise date shall be before the date of the Company s proposed sale or merger. The Compensation Committee shall notify each participant in writing, at least ten business days prior to the new exercise date, that the exercise date for the participant s Option has been changed to the new exercise date and that the participant s Option shall be exercised automatically on the new exercise date, unless prior to such date the participant has withdrawn from the Offering Period as provided in paragraph 8 of the 2016 ESPP.

#### **Federal Income Tax Considerations**

The following is a description of certain U.S. Federal income tax consequences of the issuance and exercise of options to purchase shares under the 2016 ESPP. The options granted under the 2016 ESPP are intended to constitute qualified stock options in an employee stock purchase plan under Section 423 of the Code. No taxable income is realized by a participant at the time options are granted to participants under the 2016 ESPP or at the time of purchase of shares pursuant to the 2016 ESPP. Upon the death of a participant owning 2016 ESPP shares, or upon the disposition of shares two years or more after the date of the grant of the option to purchase such shares and at least one year after acquiring such shares (the Required Holding Period ), the participant will recognize as ordinary compensation income an amount equal to the lesser of:

- (i) the excess of the fair market value of the shares on the date of disposition or death over the amount paid for such shares, or
- (ii) the excess of the fair market value of the shares at the time the option was granted over the option exercise price.

The participant will also recognize a long-term capital gain or loss on such disposition of such shares equal to the difference between (x) the amount realized upon the sale of the shares and (y) the sum of the amount the participant paid for the shares plus the amount, if any, taxed to the participant as ordinary compensation income under clause (i) or (ii) above.

We will not be entitled to a deduction corresponding to the participant s compensation income in the case of shares satisfying the Required Holding Period.

Upon disposition of the shares prior to the satisfaction of the Required Holding Period, the participant generally will then recognize compensation income, and we will have a corresponding deduction, in an amount equal to the excess of the fair market value of the shares on the date of exercise over the amount paid for the shares. The amount recognized as compensation income will be added to the basis of the shares for

purposes of computing the participant s capital gain at the time of disposition.

<b>m</b>			c	$\sim$			
Tal	hl	e	Ωt	( :(	าท	te	nts

### PROPOSAL NO. 1 ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Common Stock Directors

Five Common Stock Directors are to be elected at the Annual Meeting to hold office until our annual general meeting in 2017:

C. Adam Procell

**Gregory Barnum** 

**Christopher Capps** 

**Richard Kiphart** 

**Tommy Mike Pappas** 

Our Board nominated Adam Procell, Gregory Barnum, Christopher Capps, Richard Kiphart, and Tommy Pappas following the recommendation by our Governance and Nominating Committee, a committee comprised entirely of independent directors. Each nominee has consented to serve if elected. We do not expect that any nominee will become unavailable for election as a director, but if any nominee should become unavailable prior to the meeting, the proxies to vote for such nominee will instead either be voted for a substitute nominee recommended by our Board, or not voted, if the Board determines in its discretion that the position should remain vacant.

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE

FOR THE ELECTION OF THE COMMON STOCK DIRECTOR NOMINEES

Preferred Stock Directors

Bison, the holder of the Company s Series C Preferred Stock, has informed the Board that it intends to nominate and electandreas Hildebrand and Peter S. Macdonald as Preferred Stock Directors.

# THE HOLDERS OF COMMON STOCK DO NOT VOTE ON THE ELECTION OF THE PREFERRED STOCK DIRECTORS, ALL OF WHOM ARE ELECTED BY THE SERIES C PREFERRED STOCK VOTING SEPARATELY.

Messrs. Andreas Hildebrand, Adam Procell, Gregory Barnum, Christopher Capps, Richard Kiphart, Peter Macdonald, and Tommy Pappas are currently serving as directors, and their biographies are available above under Corporate Governance Board of Directors. Included in each nominee s biography is an assessment of his specific qualifications, attributes, skills and experience.

### Table of Contents

#### PROPOSAL NO. 2 ADVISORY VOTE TO APPROVE EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Section 951 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 requires us to provide our shareholders with an opportunity to cast an advisory vote regarding the compensation of our named executive officers. This vote is commonly known as Say-on-Pay . We hold a Say-on-Pay vote every three years.

Before you vote, we urge you to read the Executive Compensation and the Executive Compensation Tables sections of this proxy statement for additional details on our executive compensation, including its governance, framework, components, and the compensation decisions for our executive officers for 2015.

As an advisory vote, the results of this vote will not be binding on the Board or the Company. However, the Board values the opinions of our stockholders, and will take into account the outcome of the vote when making future decisions on the compensation of our executive officers and our executive compensation principles, policies and procedures.

We ask our stockholders to approve the compensation of our executive officers by voting FOR the following resolution:

RESOLVED, that the Company s stockholders approve, on an advisory basis, the compensation of the executive officers, as disclosed in the Company s proxy statement for the 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders pursuant to the compensation disclosure rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission.

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE <u>FOR</u> APPROVAL OF THE COMPENSATION OF OUR EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AS DISCLOSED IN THIS PROXY STATEMENT

### Table of Contents

#### PROPOSAL NO. 3 RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Audit Committee of our Board has appointed CohnReznick LLP ( CohnReznick ) as our independent registered public accounting firm for the year ending December 31, 2016. At the Annual Meeting, stockholders will be asked to ratify this appointment. CohnReznick was engaged to serve as our independent registered public accounting firm in replacement of BDO USA, LLP ( BDO ).

Representatives of CohnReznick are expected to be present at the meeting, will have the opportunity to make a statement if they desire to do so, and are expected to be available to respond to appropriate questions.

If the stockholders fail to ratify the selection, the Audit Committee will reconsider whether or not to retain that firm. Even if the selection is ratified, the Audit Committee in its discretion may direct the appointment of a different independent registered public accounting firm at any time during the year if the Audit Committee determines that such a change would be in the best interests of the Company and our stockholders.

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE <u>FOR</u> THE RATIFICATION OF THE APPOINTMENT OF COHNREZNICK AS OUR INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM FOR 2016

#### AUDIT COMMITTEE DISCLOSURE

#### **Change in Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm**

On February 11, 2016, the Audit Committee completed a competitive process to engage an independent registered public accounting firm for the Company s fiscal year ending December 31, 2016. As a result of this process, the Audit Committee approved the engagement of CohnReznick on February 11, 2016. On February 12, 2016, the Company informed BDO that it would not be appointed to audit the Company s consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2016.

During the Company s fiscal years ended December 31, 2014 and 2015, and the subsequent interim period through February 12, 2016, (i) the Company had no disagreements with BDO on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosures, or auditing scope or procedure that, if not resolved to the satisfaction of BDO, would have caused BDO to make reference to the subject matter thereof in connection with its reports on the financial statements for such periods, and (ii) there were no reportable events within the meaning of Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K, except for the material weakness reported in the Company s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended

March 31, 2015.

BDO s audit report on the Company s consolidated financial statements for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2013 and 2014 did not contain an adverse opinion or a disclaimer of opinion, nor was it qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope, or accounting principles.

During the Company s fiscal years ended December 31, 2013, 2014 and 2015, and the subsequent interim period through February 11, 2016, neither the Company, nor anyone on its behalf, consulted CohnReznick regarding (i) the application of accounting principles to a specific transaction, either completed or proposed, (ii) the type of audit opinion that might be rendered on the Company s consolidated financial statements, (iii) any matter that was the subject of a disagreement within the meaning of Item 304(a)(1)(iv) of Regulation S-K, or (iv) any reportable event within the meaning of Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K.

We filed with the SEC a Form 8-K on February 16, 2015 making the foregoing disclosures. We filed a Form 8-K/A on April 5, 2016, announcing that BDO had completed its audit of the Company s consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015. Prior to each such filing, we submitted the foregoing disclosures to BDO and BDO agreed with the disclosures in all respects.

Representatives of BDO are expected to be present at the meeting, will have the opportunity to make a statement if they desire to do so, and are expected to be available to respond to appropriate questions.

### Table of Contents

#### **Audit and Non-Audit Fees**

Aggregate fees for professional services rendered to us by BDO and BDO member firms for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 are set forth below.

	2015	2014		
	(in thousands of U.S. dollars)			
Audit Fees(1)	\$ 346,821	\$351,040		
Audit-Related Fees(2)	\$ 63,250			
Tax Fees(3)	\$ 89,315	193,752		
All Other Fees(4)	\$ 196,339	132,725		
Total	\$ 695,725	\$677,517		

- (1) Audit fees consist of fees for professional services rendered for the audit of our consolidated financial statements and review of our consolidated financial statements included in our quarterly reports and services normally provided by the independent auditor in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements.
- (2) Audit-related fees are fees billed for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of our consolidated financial statements, but not included in footnote (1) above.
- (3) Tax services fees consist of professional fees billed for products and services rendered by BDO for tax compliance, tax advice, and tax planning. All of these fees were pre-approved by our Audit Committee.
- (4) All other fees consist of fees billed by BDO for services other than those listed in categories 1 through 3 above. All of these fees were pre-approved by our Audit Committee.

### Consideration of Auditor Independence

The Audit Committee has concluded that the provision of the non-audit services by BDO was compatible with maintaining its independence.

#### Procedures for Pre-Approval of Audit and Non-Audit Services

Our Audit Committee charter requires the Audit Committee to pre-approve all audit and non-audit services provided by the Company s independent registered public accounting firm. Each proposed engagement not specifically identified by the Securities and Exchange Commission as impairing independence is evaluated for independence implications prior to entering into a contract with the independent auditor for such services.

Our Audit Committee considered whether the use of BDO s services other than for the annual audit and quarterly reviews in any way impairs their independence and has concluded that it does not. In both 2015 and 2014, these services were limited to tax fees related to tax compliance, advice and planning. No services were performed by BDO prior to receiving approval from the Audit Committee. We have been advised by BDO that substantially all of the work performed in conjunction with its 2015 audit of our financial statements for the most recently completed year was performed by permanent, full-time employees and partners of BDO. We have received confirmation and a letter from BDO required by the applicable requirements of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board concerning independence, and discussed with BDO its independence.

Our Audit Committee has adopted a policy to pre-approve all audit and permissible non-audit services provided by our independent registered public accounting firm. During 2015, the committee also granted its pre-approval for specific types of tax and other non-audit services with specified fee structures that could be provided by BDO.

Any engagements falling within these pre-approved outlines can be entered into, with CohnReznick and management reporting the details of any such pre-approved engagements to the Audit Committee at its next meeting. The committee will review the scope of the pre-approval annually. In the event it becomes necessary to engage the independent registered public accounting firm for additional services not contemplated in the original pre-approval at a time that does not correspond to a committee meeting, the Audit Committee has delegated authority to review and approve such services to the Audit Committee Chairman, who would report any such approvals to the full committee at its next meeting.

For the year ended December 31, 2015, the Audit Committee approved all audit and non-audit services by our independent registered public accounting firm either on an individual basis as the need arose or by way of the pre-approval process described above.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

The primary purpose of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board in its oversight of the integrity of the Company s financial statements, the Company s compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the independent registered public accounting firm s qualifications, independence and performance and the performance of the Company s internal audit function. The Audit Committee has sole responsibility for the appointment, retention and compensation of the Company s independent registered public accounting firm.

The Audit Committee operates under a written charter adopted by the Board, which is reassessed periodically for adequacy by the Audit Committee. Members of the Audit Committee have no financial or personal ties to the Company (other than director compensation and equity ownership) and are all independent for purposes of the Securities and Exchange Commission s regulations and the NASDAQ listing standards. None of the Audit Committee members has a relationship with the Company that may interfere with such member s independence from the Company and Company management.

The Audit Committee oversees the Company s financial reporting process on behalf of the Board. It is not the responsibility of the Audit Committee to plan or conduct audits or to determine that the Company s financial statements are complete and accurate and are in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and applicable rules and regulations. This is the responsibility of management and the independent auditors, as appropriate.

In performing its duties, the Audit Committee:

- has reviewed and discussed with management the Company s audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2015;
- has discussed with BDO, the Company s independent registered public accounting firm for the year ended December 31, 2015, matters such as the quality (in addition to acceptability), clarity, consistency, and completeness of our financial reporting, as required by Auditing Standards No. 16, as adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board;
- has received from BDO the written disclosures and letter required by applicable requirements of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding the independent accountant s communication with the Audit Committee concerning independence; and
- has discussed with BDO the issue of its independence from the Company and other matters that the Audit Committee deemed relevant and appropriate.

Based on these reviews and discussions, the Audit Committee recommended to the Board that the audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2015 be included in the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for that year.

### AUDIT COMMITTEE

Gregory T. Barnum, *Chair* Christopher W. Capps Tommy Mike Pappas

45

### Table of Contents

#### PROPOSAL NO. 4 APPROVAL OF THE 2016 EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN

We are asking our stockholders to approve the adoption and implementation of the 2016 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the ESPP), which will provide our eligible employees with an opportunity to purchase our Common Stock at a discount using payroll deductions. The ESPP entitles our employees in the United States to receive special tax treatment provided by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the Code). If the ESPP is approved, 100,000 shares of our Common Stock will initially be authorized for issuance under the ESPP.

The Board adopted the ESPP on April 22, 2016, subject to approval by our stockholders at the Annual Meeting. If approved by our stockholders, it is expected that the first offering period under the ESPP will begin on July 1, 2016.

The ESPP complements, and is an important part of, our overall compensation philosophy and strategy as discussed in this proxy statement, under the heading Executive Compensation. Similarly to previous employee stock purchase plans that our stockholders have approved previously, we believe approval of the ESPP allows the Company a means to enhance our ability to attract and retain the services of eligible employees upon whose judgment, initiative and efforts the success and development of our business largely depends. In addition, the Board believes the ESPP will provide additional incentives to eligible employees to devote their effort and skill to the continued growth of the Company, by providing them an opportunity to participate in ownership of our shares and thereby have an interest in our success and increased value.

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE FOR ADOPTION AND IMPLEMENTATION OF THE ESPP.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### OTHER GOVERNANCE MATTERS

#### Stockholder Proposals for the 2017 Annual Meeting

Stockholder proposals intended for inclusion in the proxy statement for the 2017 annual general meeting of stockholders pursuant to Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act should be sent to our Corporate Secretary at Lime Energy Co., 4 Gateway Center, 4th Floor, 100 Mulberry Street, Newark, NJ 07102 and must be received by December 30, 2016 and otherwise comply with the requirements of Rule 14a-8 in order to be considered for inclusion in the 2017 proxy materials. If the date of next year s annual general meeting is moved more than 30 days before or after the anniversary date of this year s annual general meeting, the deadline for inclusion of proposals in our proxy materials is instead a reasonable time before we begin to print and mail our proxy materials. After the December 30, 2016 deadline, a stockholder proposal may still be submitted for consideration at the 2017 annual general meeting of stockholders if it is received no earlier than February 16, 2017 and no later than March 18, 2017, although it will not be included in the proxy statement. If a stockholder s proposal is not timely received, then the proxies designated by our Board for the 2017 annual general meeting of stockholders may vote in their discretion on any such proposal the shares for which they have been appointed proxies, without mention of such matter in the proxy materials for such meeting.

### Delivery of Documents to Stockholders Sharing an Address

Some banks, brokers and other nominee record holders may be engaging in the practice of householding in which only one copy of the Notice and, if applicable, the proxy materials may have been sent to multiple stockholders sharing an address. This practice is designed to reduce printing and postage costs. However, any stockholder at a shared address to which a single copy of the Notice and, if applicable, the proxy materials is delivered who wishes to receive a separate copy of any of these materials may mail a request to receive separate copies to the Company at 4 Gateway Center, 4th Floor, 100 Mulberry Street, Newark, NJ 07102, Attn: Corporate Secretary, or call the Company at (201) 416-2575. If you want to receive separate copies in the future, or if you are receiving multiple copies and would like to receive only one copy at your shared address, you should contact your bank, broker or other nominee record holder, or direct your request to the address provided above.

### Stockholder List

For at least ten days prior to the meeting, a list of stockholders entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting, arranged in alphabetical order, showing the address of and number of shares registered in the name of each stockholder, will be open for examination by any stockholder, for any purpose germane to the Annual Meeting, during ordinary business hours at our principal executive offices by contacting the Corporate Secretary. The list will also be available for examination at the Annual Meeting.

#### **Other Matters**

We are not aware of any other matters to be presented at the Annual Meeting other than those mentioned in this proxy statement. If, however, any other matter properly comes before the Annual Meeting, including any stockholder proposal properly made, the proxy holders will vote the proxies in accordance with their best judgment.